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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
NCR is at the midpoint of executing a multiyear plan
to deliver greater value to our customers and investors.
The company is fundamentally changing its operating
model, aggressively realigning cost and, just as important,
investing in revenue-producing activities. Although we
have more to do, our progress to date has put us in a much
stronger position to increase shareholder value in 2005
and beyond.
Since 2003, the company has removed $200 million of
cost inefficiency, with $50 million more to be eliminated
in 2005. Through our continued benchmarking efforts,
we’ve identified further opportunities to streamline the
company’s cost structure. As a result, in December 2004,
we announced our intention to remove an additional
$100 million of cost through 2006, for a total of
$350 million.
For the future success of the company, we are removing
incremental corporate infrastructure cost and reinvesting
those dollars to drive innovation for our customers and
profitable growth for NCR, particularly in the areas of
enterprise analytics and self-service technologies.
The first important investment area is fueling our ability
to develop new products and services. Last year, we
improved the efficiency of our R&D expenditures by
adding engineers and optimizing R&D spending
throughout NCR. We further strengthened our self-service
capabilities through the acquisition of Kinetics, Inc., the
leading provider of self-check-in solutions to the travel
and hospitality industries.
Additionally, we are increasing investment in sales
and consulting personnel. NCR is adding talented,
knowledgeable professionals that will help capture
the growing demand for enterprise analytics and
self-service technologies.
We witnessed the positive results of these investments
and cost-reduction actions as revenues and profits
grew in each of our key product segments in 2004.
•

Teradata® Data Warehousing revenues grew
12 percent, and operating income, excluding pension
expense, improved more than 50 percent from 2003,
reflecting the increased demand for enterprise analytics
and our market-leading Teradata technology.

•

Revenue growth of 19 percent leveraged an improved
operating model in the Financial Self Service (ATMs)
business to drive strong results in 2004. With several
regionally based demand drivers fueling our growth, it
is a good time to be in the ATM business.

•

We also made progress in our Customer Services
Division to increase the efficiency of our service delivery
and sharpen our service focus on NCR-branded
products. The positive impact of theses initiatives should
become visible in our 2005 financial results.
The outcome of these and other revenue-enhancing
and cost-management initiatives was evident in the
company’s 2004 results, as we improved operating
performance, excluding pension expense, by more than
$130 million from 2003. Additionally, the company
generated $436 million of cash from operations.
Although we are proud of our improvements to date,
NCR’s goal is to achieve a 10 percent operating margin,
before pension expense, by 2007. And we continue to
benchmark ourselves against industry cost and expense
measures, finding even more opportunity for improvement.
As you evaluate NCR’s current and potential earnings
performance, I encourage you to consider these drivers:
•

NCR is committed to driving further cost reductions,
architecting a healthy operating model in all of our
businesses, including Customer Services, which will
position us to profitably grow the company. We know
first-hand how difficult it is to compete and grow when
burdened with inefficiency and high cost.

•

Longer term, the opportunities in the enterprise
analytics and self-service markets should remain
healthy. NCR is well-positioned in these markets with
industry-leading technology and sales professionals to
create increased demand for our products and services.
We will continue to invest to create greater value for our
customers, investors and employees.

My sincere thanks to the people of NCR – it is through
their ideas and hard work that we made good progress in
2004. It will be through their continued determination and
passion that we can accomplish even more.
On behalf of NCR’s employees, many thanks to our
investors for your continued interest and support.

Mark V. Hurd
President and Chief Executive Officer

Retail Store Automation increased revenues 8 percent
and improved profitability by $26 million from 2003 as
retailers began replacing aging point-of-sale systems.
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NCR AT A GLANCE
TERADATA DATA WAREHOUSING

FINANCIAL SELF SERVICE

RETAIL STORE AUTOMATION

CUSTOMER SERVICES

Enterprise-wide analytic
solution, including database,
analytical applications, data
mining, servers, storage
systems, consulting and
support.

Automated teller machines
and related software,
consulting and maintenance
services.

Retail point-of-sale (POS)
workstations, bar-code scanners,
self-service kiosks, electronic
shelf labels, software, consulting
and support.

Provides maintenance and
support services for NCR
as well as select third-party
products, including site
design, staging, implementation
and systems management.

Strong growth and improving
profitability due to heightened
demand for Teradata analytical
solutions that consolidate
enterprise data into a single,
integrated view of the business.
Increasing Teradata Division
sales resources and complementary partnerships for
greater market coverage.

Achieving solid growth
and improved operational
performance as a result
of NCR’s market-leading
technology, strong regional
market demand and more
efficient operating model.
Growth drivers include a
robust upgrade cycle in the
United States and Europe, and
growth in ATM placements in
emerging markets.

SYSTEMEDIA

PAYMENT AND IMAGING

OTHER

Consumables for ATMs and
retail workstations, including
paper rolls, labels, paper and
imaging supplies.

Hardware, software, consulting
and support services that
enable check and item-based
transactions to be digitally
captured, processed and
retained.

Includes the sale of thirdparty hardware and services
related to high-availability
and networking services.
Also includes results from
a Japanese business not
aligned with other segments.

Shifting product mix from
traditional commodity products
toward specialty media
offerings, such as labeling
products, that offer highermargin opportunities.

With U.S. banks responding
to Check 21 legislation, this
segment will see revenue shift
from traditional check-sorting
hardware to image archive
software and services.

Revenue growth due to retail
POS replacements and
increasing demand for selfservice technologies. NCR
is investing in software and
services and further streamlining its cost structure
for improved operating
profitability.

Increasing focus on servicing
NCR-branded products.
Where synergies exist for
key customers or in select
strategic industries, leveraging
NCR’s core service delivery
capabilities to support thirdparty products. Aggressively
reducing cost structure to
positively contribute to NCR’s
improving profitability.

As focus shifts to support
of NCR-branded products,
revenue from third-party
products will decline.

2004 REVENUE & NET INCOME IMPROVEMENT

2004 REVENUE MIX

$5.6 B $5.6 B $6.0 B

22%

$290 M

Financial
Self Service
(ATMs)

14%
22%

$58 M
2002

2003

> REVENUE
(In billions)

($220)

> NET INCOME
(In millions)
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2004
FINANCIAL REPORT
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

4

Report of Management

26

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

27

Consolidated Statements of Operations

28

Consolidated Balance Sheets

29

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

30

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

31

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

32

Selected Financial Data

58

Corporate Information

IBC

NCR04

>

TABLE OF CONTENTS

> 3

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (MD&A)
BUSINESS OVERVIEW
NCR Corporation is a leading global technology company that provides innovative products and services to help businesses
build stronger relationships with their customers. Our market-leading Teradata Data Warehousing solutions transform
data into an integrated view of a company’s business, which permits it to develop programs designed to improve customer
acquisition, retention and profitability, as well as streamline the supply chain and business operations. Through our
presence at customer interaction points, such as automated teller machines (ATMs), retail point-of-sale (POS) workstations,
and self-check-in/out systems, our Financial Self Service and Retail Store Automation solutions enable companies to address
consumer demand for convenience, value and individual service. Our Customer Services Division provides support services
for NCR’s solutions as well as third-party products.
We provide solutions for the retail and financial industries through our Financial Self Service (ATMs) and Retail Store
Automation businesses. Additionally, our Teradata Data Warehousing and Customer Services businesses provide solutions
for industries including telecommunications, transportation, insurance and consumer goods manufacturers, as well as
governmental entities. We deliver our solutions to customers on a global basis and categorize our results into four regions:
the Americas, Europe/Middle East/Africa (EMEA), Japan and Asia/Pacific. Our solutions are based on a foundation of
long-established industry knowledge and consulting expertise, hardware technology, value-adding software, global customer
support services and a complete line of business consumables and specialty media products.
NCR’s reputation has been built upon 120 years of providing quality products, services and solutions to our customers. At
the heart of our customer and other business relationships are years of acting responsibly, with the highest level of integrity,
a commitment based on trust and a will to act responsibly and ethically in all of our business dealings. Using NCR’s Code of
Conduct (available on the corporate governance page of our website) as our guide, the Company remains firmly committed to
continuing this tradition.

STRATEGY OVERVIEW
Our current strategic initiatives to increase operating income and return maximum value to our stockholders include:
1) Delivering superior value propositions – The majority of our product revenue is generated from our Data
Warehousing, Financial Self Service and Retail Store Automation businesses, and leveraging our market leadership and
value propositions in these businesses is important to NCR’s future success. These businesses are strategically focused on
gaining market share and reallocating spending to value-added activities within our product offerings to generate revenue
and operating income growth. We are also making investments in research and development activities to generate new
products that will further improve the value of our product offerings. Please refer to the sections in this MD&A discussing
each of NCR’s businesses for more information on these strategies.
2) Enhancing demand creation – We are investing in our sales force by hiring additional sales people and industry
professionals, along with increasing our training offerings. We expect these investments to provide meaningful benefits
in 2005 and beyond.
3) Improving profitability in Customer Services – In our Customer Services Division, we are driving operational
and financial improvement by lowering our service delivery costs, improving the percentage of NCR ATMs and POS
equipment that is serviced by NCR and increasing our focus on the linkage between product engineering and product
serviceability. Please refer to the “Customer Services” section in this MD&A for further details on these initiatives.
4) Optimizing our cost structure – In 2004, we made significant progress on reducing our cost structure to bring it in
line with industry benchmark standards. Through 2003 and 2004, we have delivered $200 million of our $250 million
commitment to reduce cost and expense. We expect to deliver the remaining $50 million in 2005, as well as an additional
$100 million of cost reductions in 2005 and 2006. Please refer to the “Re-engineering” section in this MD&A for further
details on our cost reductions efforts.
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
2004 was a positive year for NCR as we showed significant progress and made several key strategic decisions in order to
generate future revenue growth and operating income. As more fully discussed in later sections of the MD&A, the following
were the significant themes and events for 2004:
• We continued to strengthen the value of our products and services provided to customers around the world and
increased our revenue 7% in 2004, including 4 percentage points of benefit from foreign currency translation.
• Cost and expense reductions in 2004 helped improve our operating income despite $46 million of incremental
pension and severance expense compared to 2003 and the negative effect of foreign exchange.
• We produced $436 million of cash from operations, $182 million after $254 million of capital expenditures.
In 2004, we established five key value drivers in order to improve and measure our overall success. These drivers and our
results against them were as follows:
• Data Warehousing revenue growth – Data Warehousing experienced 12% growth as companies continued to
invest in the strong value proposition our Teradata data warehouses provide. Foreign currency fluctuations provided
a 4 percentage point benefit to 2004 revenue.
• Financial Self Service revenue growth – Financial Self Service revenue grew 19% due to strong ATM sales in
both the Americas and EMEA regions and to a lesser extent in the Asia/Pacific region. The impact of foreign currency
fluctuations provided a benefit of 5 percentage points to 2004 revenue.
• Retail Store Automation profitability – Retail Store Automation improved profitability from breakeven in 2003
to $26 million of operating income in 2004 due to 8% revenue growth and meaningful expense reductions. Foreign
currency fluctuations provided a 3 percentage point benefit to 2004 revenue.
• Customer Services performance – Although we are continuing our actions to improve the financial results of this
segment, the improvement in 2004 was offset by continued price erosion and a less favorable mix of high-margin
maintenance revenue from businesses we previously exited.
• Cost and expense reductions – As mentioned above, we made significant progress on this value driver, reducing
cost and expense by more than $100 million in 2004.
The 2004 key drivers are discussed in greater detail later in this MD&A. Our key drivers for 2005 will be similar to those for
2004, and will include:
• Improving the profitability of our Customer Services operating segment,
• Continuing to reduce spending to achieve optimum operating performance, and
• Driving revenue growth in our key product sets.
We are projecting that the capital spending environment in 2005 will be about the same as what was experienced in 2004,
resulting in a slight increase in 2005 revenue. We expect our 2005 operating income to increase due to higher revenues, the
continued reduction of infrastructure cost, and the restructuring of our Customer Services business.
We see the following as the most significant risks to the execution of our initiatives:
• Capital/competitive environment – If the overall IT capital spending environment declines, or if we cannot
overcome the negative effect of pricing pressure or adverse foreign exchange movement with cost reductions, we may
not be able to profitably grow our business and meet our financial objectives.
• Executing our Customer Services transformation process – It is critical for NCR to structure this business so
that it can substantially improve profitability. This improvement could be at risk if we cannot successfully meet our
plan objectives, described in the Customer Services segment discussion of this MD&A; if we cannot overcome the
negative effect of anticipated pricing pressures; or if an unforeseen event occurs that would increase the number of
service incidents and therefore increase cost.
• Impact of pension expense – Changes in actuarial assumptions and declines in the capital markets for both NCR’s
U.S. and international pension plans may result in more pension expense in future periods than anticipated, which
could decrease our overall profitability. While changes in actuarial assumptions may have a more immediate effect on
our pension expense, changes in the capital markets may affect our net income in following years. We are continuing
to analyze all costs and employee benefits related to our current pension plans.
• Reduce cost – If we cannot continue to remove costs and expenses from our infrastructure and business units, we
may not be competitive in our pricing and may not be able to create the capacity to invest in new solutions.
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RESULTS FROM OPERATIONS
1

2

3

2003

2004

2002

In millions

Consolidated revenue

$ 5,984

$

5,598

$

5,585

Consolidated gross margin
Consolidated operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Research and development expenses

$ 1,616

$

1,534

$

1,587

Total consolidated income from operations

$

1,171
233

1,141
242
233

$

130

1,166
232
$

1

Income from operations for 2004 included $135 million of pension expense and $95 million of severance expense.

2

Income from operations for 2003 included $105 million of pension expense and $79 million of severance expense.

3

Income from operations for 2002 included $74 million of pension income, $75 million of severance expense, real estate consolidation and
restructuring charges of $16 million and asset impairment charges of $5 million.

189

2004 COMPARED TO 2003 RESULTS DISCUSSION
NCR’s revenue of $5,984 million for 2004 was a 7% increase from 2003. This growth included 4 percentage points of
favorable impact from foreign currency fluctuations. Please refer to the “Revenue and Operating Income (Loss) by Segment”
section in this MD&A for details regarding our segment results.
Year-over-year, revenue increased 7% in the Americas, 6% in EMEA, 3% in the Asia/Pacific region, and decreased 1%
in Japan. Changes in foreign currency rates provided a 1 percentage point, an 8 percentage point, a 4 percentage point,
and a 6 percentage point benefit to 2004 revenue in the Americas, EMEA, Asia/Pacific, and Japan, respectively. In the
Americas region, the revenue growth was attributable to strong volumes in our three major product segments of Financial
Self Service, Data Warehousing, and Retail Store Automation. The growth in our EMEA region was primarily due to changes
in foreign currency rates and increased volumes in Financial Self Service which was offset somewhat by declines in the
“Other” segment. In the Asia/Pacific region, foreign currency changes primarily drove the revenue increase. Certain
segments, such as Financial Self Service, Retail Store Automation, Systemedia and Data Warehousing, grew beyond the
currency impact in Asia/Pacific; however, this growth was offset by volume declines in other businesses. In Japan, a volume
increase in Data Warehousing was more than offset by declines in nearly every other segment.
Income from operations in 2004 increased to $233 million compared to $130 million in 2003. The increase was primarily
due to a combination of higher volumes in our three main product businesses, benefits from foreign currency fluctuations,
and lower cost and expense. The increase in income from operations more than offset the increase in pension and severance
expense, the incremental costs associated with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and cost associated with
exiting under-utilized real estate facilities.

2003 COMPARED TO 2002 RESULTS DISCUSSION
Total revenue was essentially flat in 2003 as compared to 2002. Foreign currency fluctuations provided a 5 percentage point
benefit to 2003 revenue. Overall, increases in customer service revenue were essentially offset by a decline in product sales
and professional services due to the constrained capital spending environment for information technology equipment. By
segment, revenue growth in Retail Store Automation, Financial Self Service, and Customer Services was offset by declines in
the “Other” segment, Systemedia, and Data Warehousing.
Revenue growth of 7% in the EMEA region was offset by declines of 1% in the Americas region, 5% in Japan and 8% in
the Asia/Pacific region. The growth in the EMEA region was primarily due to positive foreign currency impact and higher
volumes in Financial Self Service and Retail Store Automation. The decline in the Asia/Pacific region was mainly due to a
volume decline as our significant growth in 2002 for Financial Self Service and Retail Store Automation was not sustained
in 2003. Changes in foreign currency rates provided a 12 percentage point, a 7 percentage point, and a 6 percentage point
benefit to the 2003 revenue in the EMEA region, Japan and the Asia/Pacific region, respectively.
Total operating income in 2003 was $130 million compared to $189 million in 2002. Operating income for 2003 was impacted
by $105 million of pension expense compared to $74 million of pension income for 2002. The $105 million of pension
expense for 2003 included $11 million of incremental settlement charges for departures of employees in certain non-U.S.
locations. Operating income for 2003 was positively impacted by our cost and expense reduction initiatives, the benefit of
positive foreign currency fluctuations, and higher revenues in Data Warehousing support services. Also during the year, a
$12 million benefit was realized as we eliminated our U.S. postretirement life insurance benefit in the third quarter of 2003.
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REVENUE AND OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) BY SEGMENT
Our key solutions are categorized as Data Warehousing, Financial Self Service, Retail Store Automation and Customer
Services, each of which is a reportable operating segment. In addition, our Systemedia and Payment and Imaging solutions
are reportable segments. A seventh segment, “Other,” primarily relates to the Company’s resale of third-party computer
hardware and related professional and installation services, and to a business in Japan that is not aligned with our other
segments. Our segments are comprised of hardware, software, and professional and installation-related services.
For purposes of discussing our operating results by segment, we exclude the impact of certain items, such as pension
expense, from operating income or loss, consistent with the manner by which management views each segment and reports
our operating segment results under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131 (SFAS 131), “Disclosures about
Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.” This format is useful to investors because it allows analysis and
comparability of operating trends for each business. It also includes the same information that is used by NCR management
to make decisions regarding the segments and to assess our financial performance. Restructuring items in the fourth quarter
of 2002 were also excluded from the discussion of operating results. Our segment results are reconciled to total Company
results reported under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (otherwise known as GAAP)
in Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
In the segment discussions, we have disclosed the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on revenue growth. As a result
of the weaker U.S. Dollar, the Company benefited from currency fluctuations in 2004, mainly in our EMEA, Japan and
Asia/Pacific regions.
Data Warehousing provides the market-leading Teradata data warehousing database software, hardware platform and
related services that enable companies to gain a competitive advantage by more quickly and efficiently analyzing a single
integrated view of customer behavior and other business information and then delivering that business intelligence to the
company’s decision-makers. This segment’s revenues are primarily generated in the enterprise data warehousing market,
which is part of the larger database market.
The current business and financial model for Data Warehousing allows for a significant portion of revenue growth to enhance
profitability. Our main strategic direction for the future is to increase our market share in the enterprise data warehouse
market and to increase our penetration in the overall data warehousing market. We plan to meet these goals by providing the
technology, support and consulting services that companies need to capitalize on enterprise-wide analytics and maximize the
usefulness of their existing data. We focus on adding companies that have massive amounts of data to leverage, which will
generate a continued need for technology and consulting and lead to future upgrades and expansion.
The following table presents Data Warehousing (including support services) revenue and operating income for the years
ended December 31:
Data Warehousing

2003

2004

2002

In millions

Revenue
Operating income

$ 1,361
$
223

Operating income as a percent of revenue

16.4%

$
$

1,213
145

$
$

1,226
112

12.0%

9.1%

Data Warehousing revenue increased 12% in 2004 from 2003 due to both an increase in product sales and support services.
Foreign currency fluctuations provided a 4 percentage point benefit to 2004 revenue. The strong growth is indicative of
customers valuing the superior analytical capabilities of our Data Warehousing solutions and the return on investment they
can provide. The increase in operating income from 2003 to 2004 reflects the increases in sales and support services.
Consistent with our strategy, reductions in infrastructure costs allowed investment in sales and research and development initiatives.
Data Warehousing revenue declined 1% in 2003 from 2002 due to the constrained capital expenditure environment, which
was partially offset by foreign currency fluctuations and an increase in support services revenue. Foreign currency
fluctuations provided a 5 percentage point increase to 2003 revenue. The capital spending environment remained depressed
in 2003 as customers had limited budgets for large information technology expenditures; however, our existing customer
base continued to purchase services to maintain their data warehouses. Operating income increased 29% in 2003 as cost
and expense reduction efforts provided benefits to our margin and operating expenses that offset the effects of lower volumes
and typical price erosion. We also experienced a positive shift in our mix during 2003 to higher-margin software and
maintenance revenue, which aided our operating income improvement.
While we have seen fluctuations in the information technology environment in the past, our outlook remains positive as we
expect to see continued growth in 2005 versus a very strong 2004. Our growth in support services and solution revenue
should lead to higher 2005 operating income versus 2004 for this business.
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Financial Self Service provides ATM-related technologies including cash dispensers, services, and software solutions
to financial institutions, retailers and independent deployers. Our Financial Self Service solutions are designed to quickly
and reliably process consumer transactions and incorporate advanced features such as web-enablement, automated check
cashing/deposit, automated cash deposit, bill payment and the dispensing of non-cash items.
The market demand for financial self-service products and services is expected to grow moderately over the next few years
due to an anticipated ATM upgrade cycle in the Americas and EMEA regions, expanding demand in emerging markets, and
from banks moving to advanced-function ATMs to increase their revenue and lower their operating costs. Our strategy is to
fully distribute our sales force and invest in markets such as China, India and Russia. Also, we believe we are well-positioned
to take advantage of our market-leading deposit automation technology and software which provide higher-value solutions.
Additionally, we are making progress to create a competitive cost advantage for this business, optimizing our human and
asset capital deployment in order to become a lower-cost supplier. This includes streamlining our supply chain and producing
ATMs in the region generating the demand.
A significant event in the financial services marketplace is The Check Clearing for the 21st Century Act, or “Check 21,”
which took effect in October 2004. The act is intended to improve the efficiency of the U.S. Federal Reserve’s current
paper-based clearing and settlement system through expedited funds availability and reduced risk associated with paper
movement. The Financial Self Service business should realize benefits from this legislative change over the next several
years. Financial institutions in the United States have begun to upgrade their ATMs in order to allow checks to be digitally
scanned upon deposit at the ATM so that they can eliminate the costly and slow process of clearing the paper form of the check.
The following table presents Financial Self Service revenue and operating income for the years ended December 31:
Financial Self Service (ATMs)

2003

2004

2002

In millions

Revenue
Operating income

$ 1,370
$
222

Operating income as a percent of revenue

16.2%

$
$

1,149
165
14.4%

$
$

1,095
115
10.5%

Revenue for Financial Self Service grew 19% in 2004 from 2003. The increase was the result of growth in all regions. In the
Americas region, we continue to benefit from financial institutions in the United States upgrading their ATM networks for
recent regulatory changes. Growth in the EMEA region was reflective of banks upgrading their ATMs for the automation of
cash deposits, as well as expansion of ATM networks in Eastern Europe. Growth in the Asia/Pacific region was broad-based
with meaningful growth in several countries. The impact of foreign currency fluctuations provided a benefit of 5 percentage
points to 2004 revenue. Operating income improved due to increased volume, the favorable impact of foreign currency
translation, and expense reductions, which offset the effects of anticipated price erosion.
Revenues in Financial Self Service increased 5% in 2003 as compared to 2002 primarily due to foreign currency fluctuations.
Foreign currency provided a 7 percentage point benefit in 2003 for this business. Services revenue included in this segment
was higher in 2003, but we experienced typical levels of product price erosion due to competitive pressures. We experienced
strong growth in the Americas region as financial institutions increased spending for our advanced function ATM solutions.
However, the Asia/Pacific region’s revenue declined relative to a difficult compare in 2002. Operating income improved
43% from 2002 due to cost and expense reduction programs and positive foreign currency fluctuations. We have been
successful in lowering our supply chain costs with the actions we took in 2003, such as reducing the number of staging
centers that customize ATMs and leveraging our regional manufacturing capabilities.
In 2005, we expect revenue for Financial Self Service to increase, at least in line with growth in the overall ATM market.
To remain competitive in the market, it is imperative that we continue to reduce our costs by leveraging the synergies of our
global manufacturing locations. We expect operating income to increase at a rate greater than the growth in revenue as a
result of our initiatives to reduce our cost and expense structure.
Retail Store Automation provides retail-oriented technologies such as POS terminals, bar-code scanners and software, as
well as innovative products such as our self-checkout systems and self-service kiosks, to companies worldwide. Combining
our retail industry expertise, software and hardware technologies, and implementation and store performance consulting
services, our Retail Store Automation solutions are designed to enable cost reductions and improve operational efficiency for
companies while increasing satisfaction of their customers. NCR provides a highly competitive product offering for retailers
in an increasingly commoditized market. Revenue in this segment will more than likely increase as retailers continue to
upgrade and replace aging POS systems and install new self-checkout and self-service technologies.
In 2004, the Retail Store Automation business made significant improvement in lowering its cost structure and will continue to
focus on additional improvements in its operating model in 2005, reducing infrastructure costs as it shifts investments into
sales and research and development. This includes making investments in new technologies that are projected to increase
efficiencies for retailers, such as radio frequency identification (RFID) systems and self-service technologies.
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The following table presents Retail Store Automation revenue and operating income (loss) for the years ended December 31:
Retail Store Automation

2003

2004

2002

In millions

Revenue
Operating income (loss)

$
$

Operating income (loss) as a percent of revenue

864
26

$
$

3.0%

797
–

$
$

714
(57)

0.0%

(8.0)%

Retail Store Automation revenue grew 8% compared to 2003. The revenue growth was attributable to higher POS terminal
and bar-code scanner volumes, software, and professional services, as well as 3 percentage points of benefit from foreign
currency rate changes. The operating income improvement of $26 million was the result of cost and expense reductions, higher
volumes mentioned above, and favorable foreign currency fluctuations.
Revenue increased 12% for Retail Store Automation in 2003 compared to 2002 as increased demand and positive foreign
currency fluctuations more than offset the price erosion we experienced during the year. Foreign currency provided a
5 percentage point benefit for 2003 revenue. The higher volumes were mainly driven by sales of self-checkout systems,
which were characterized by large, single purchases in the Americas region. The EMEA and Japan regions also contributed
to the growth, led by sales of POS terminals and self-checkout systems in these regions. The improvement in operating
income was driven mainly by our cost reduction efforts, volume increases, and positive foreign currency impact. These cost
reductions included progress on our configure-to-order initiative and moving a portion of our product development activities
to lower-cost locations outside of the United States.
We expect higher 2005 revenue for Retail Store Automation solutions due to increasing demand for self-service technologies
along with expansion of software and services. Due to higher revenue and our continuing actions to reduce cost and expense
in this business, we expect operating income to improve in 2005.
Systemedia provides printer consumables and products including paper rolls for ATMs and POS workstations, inkjet
and laser printer supplies, thermal transfer ribbons, labels, ink ribbons, laser documents, business forms and retail office
products. Systemedia products are designed to reduce paper-related failures in our ATMs and POS terminals and enable
businesses to improve transaction accuracy while reducing overall costs.
The printer consumables market is highly fragmented, and market consolidation continues due to lower levels of demand in
traditional media products such as paper rolls, fax paper, ink ribbons and forms. Excess capacity and lack of fixed cost coverage
results in price competition that often uses only variable cost as its base. The use of internet auctions and the willingness of
customers to set lower paper grade specifications for the products they use also results in price and margin erosion.
To compete effectively in this market, we are shifting our market and application focus to consumable offerings that offer
growth opportunities. These include RFID products, laser documents, labels, ink jet supplies, laser cartridges, and specialty
media. Increased revenue in these products is expected to offset declines experienced in mature products due to the changes
in printer technologies. In addition to a shift to higher-growth products, we are also working to increase our use of services
and industry expertise. Increased focus on defining value drivers and refining our demand generation capabilities through
additional direct sales resources is important to our strategy. We will continue to review our cost structure and manufacturing
efficiency in 2005 in order to drive improved profitability.
The following table presents Systemedia revenue and operating income for the years ended December 31:
Systemedia

2003

2004

2002

In millions

Revenue
Operating income

$
$

Operating income as a percent of revenue

512
8
1.6%

$
$

494
14

$
$

2.8%

518
6
1.2%

Revenue for Systemedia increased 4% in 2004 from 2003. Excluding the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations, revenue
was unchanged. Growth in the Americas and Asia/Pacific regions was offset by declines in the EMEA region and Japan. The
decrease in operating income from 2003 was due to competition for traditional media products which affects both pricing
and volumes. Cost and expense reductions were somewhat offset by significant increases in paper prices, which represents
the largest percentage of product cost for this business.
Revenue for the Systemedia business declined 5% from 2002 to 2003 due to softness in the market from a pricing and
volume perspective as customers reduced their expenditures for printer consumables. The Americas region was impacted the
most from the volume decline as customers we lost in late 2002 and early 2003 could not be replaced during the remainder
of the year. Foreign currency provided a 5 percentage point benefit to 2003 revenue. Operating income for Systemedia
increased in 2003 from 2002 due to cost reductions in both our material costs and manufacturing process, which more than
outpaced the volume and price erosion impacts.
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We expect similar revenue levels in 2005 versus 2004, as gains in growth products are expected to be offset by competition
in mature products. We believe that operating income will increase slightly in 2005 due to our cost reduction efforts.
Payment and Imaging provides end-to-end solutions for both traditional paper-based and image-based check and item
processing. Our imaging solutions utilize advanced image recognition and workflow technologies to automate item
processing, helping financial institutions increase efficiency and reduce operating costs. Consisting of hardware, software,
consulting and support services, our comprehensive Payment and Imaging solutions enable check and item-based
transactions to be digitally scanned, processed and retained within a flexible, scalable environment.
The most significant event that has occurred in the check payment and imaging marketplace in recent years was the Check
Clearing for the 21st Century Act, also known as “Check 21,” which took effect in October of 2004. The act is intended to
improve the efficiency of the U.S. Federal Reserve’s current paper-based clearing and settlement system through expedited funds
availability and reduced risk associated with paper movement. NCR is well-positioned for this change with our current imagebased solutions and services. However, as the need for digital imaging increases, the reliance on products that were designed for
paper-based processing will decrease. Revenue growth in this segment will be challenging given these market dynamics.
The following table presents Payment and Imaging revenue and operating income for the years ended December 31:
Payment and Imaging

2003

2004

2002

In millions

Revenue
Operating income

$
$

Operating income as a percent of revenue

149
17
11.4%

$
$

152
21

$
$

13.8%

152
19
12.5%

2004 revenue was down 2% compared to 2003. Foreign currency fluctuations provided a 2 percentage point benefit to
revenue. Increases in Japan revenue were more than offset by small volume declines in the Americas and Asia/Pacific
revenue. Operating income decreased in 2004 due to the volume decline and the continued shift in our revenue base from
higher-margin traditional processing equipment to imaging solutions as a result of the regulatory changes mentioned above.
2003 revenue for Payment and Imaging lagged behind 2002 for the majority of the year due to a weakening demand for
traditional paper-based payment offerings, but a strong fourth quarter of 2003 from imaging solution implementations
enabled 2003 revenues to be in line with 2002. Foreign currency fluctuations provided a 3 percentage point benefit to
revenue. Despite flat revenue, operating income improved by $2 million due to improved operational efficiencies and cost
structure reductions.
As financial institutions continue to comply with “Check 21” and invest in their check processing infrastructure, we expect
a shift to digital imaging products from traditional paper processing products. The impact of this shift is anticipated to result
in lower Payment and Imaging revenue for 2005, and potentially lower operating income for this business. Although “Check 21”
will result in lower revenue in Payment and Imaging, it should continue to generate higher revenue in our larger ATM
business in future periods.
Customer Services are an essential component of our complete solution offerings. NCR’s Customer Services Division
provides maintenance and support services for NCR’s products as well as some third-party products. Maintenance and
support services include site design, staging and implementation, and complete systems management.
We believe that customers value the integration of maintenance and support services with the hardware and software they
purchase. However, heavy competition in the services industry and anticipated revenue declines from businesses we exited
in prior years has led to lower revenues and operating margins in our Customer Services business over the past few years.
The exited businesses relate to higher-margin maintenance contracts associated with low-end server hardware, bank branch
automation and account processing we discontinued a number of years ago. We have taken steps to reverse the trend of
declining profitability through cost management, such as the realignment of call centers we operate, and through operational
efficiencies, such as implementing a new dispatching and productivity tool.
We have developed a long-term services transformation process designed to deliver the operating margins we expect from
this business. Building on the work started in 2004, we will continue to pursue the following operational goals during 2005:
• Change our strategic focus to allocate resources more toward the service of NCR products. We will continue to support
third-party products when that activity aligns with our strategic and financial objectives
• Increase the linkage between product engineering and the serviceability of our products (e.g., ATMs, POS systems)
• Further reduce infrastructure and service delivery costs
• Build in diagnostics to improve the remote serviceability of our products
• Ensure NCR intellectual property (IP) rights are not violated by third-party service providers
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We have realized some benefit from each of these items to date. However, as anticipated, this progress has not been sufficient
to overcome the adverse impact of price erosion from heavy competition in the marketplace and the reduction of higher-margin
revenue associated with exited businesses. We believe we can be more competitive in the marketplace by concentrating on
servicing NCR products rather than on incremental services from third-party products. By proactively designing products for
more efficient serviceability, time spent on service incidents will be reduced. This will help us achieve a lower cost structure
by shifting our service model to diagnose incidents remotely and dispatch personnel through a global operating model that
takes advantage of personnel and incident location synergies. Also, we will continue to evaluate the number of customer call
centers we maintain and modify their operations to enhance our remote diagnostic capabilities. We believe these changes will
lead to increased customer satisfaction through faster service, while reducing our service delivery costs.
Unauthorized use of NCR intellectual property allows third-party service providers a “free ride” on NCR’s investment in
research and development, giving them an unfair price advantage. NCR’s actions to enforce its IP rights and require that
third parties properly license diagnostic software are intended to eliminate this free ride. Additionally, NCR continues to
monitor and enforce its parts sales agreements to ensure that purchasers comply with program requirements and use parts for
their intended purpose. Together, these activities help eliminate unfair cost advantages to third-party service providers and
generate an appropriate return on NCR’s investment for development of its intellectual property.
The following table presents Customer Services revenue and operating income for the years ended December 31:
Customer Services

2003

2004

2002

In millions

Revenue
Operating (loss) income

$ 1,833
$
(3)

Operating (loss) income as a percent of revenue

$
$

(0.2)%

1,849
27

$
$

1,791
37

1.5%

2.1%

As anticipated, revenue for Customer Services decreased 1% in 2004 compared to 2003. Foreign currency fluctuations
provided a 4 percentage point benefit to revenue during the year. Customer Services revenue was impacted by lower
revenue from maintenance of third-party products and continued price erosion as competition for services remains strong.
Also affecting the year-over-year comparison is the declining base of high-margin revenue associated with businesses we
previously exited. Operating income declined due to price erosion and the effect of exited businesses, as well as from actions
we are taking to correct the operating costs for this business. One of these actions, planned headcount reductions, resulted in
higher severance-related postemployment benefits expense in 2004. However, these actions are expected to have a positive
impact on operating income starting in 2005.
Revenues for Customer Services increased 3% in 2003 versus 2002, mainly driven by foreign currency fluctuations that
provided a 5 percentage point benefit. We experienced declining revenue from higher-margin maintenance contracts
associated with businesses the Company exited in prior years and continued price erosion due to competition. Operating
income in 2003 declined from 2002 as cost and expense reductions were not able to offset declines in volume from exited
businesses and price erosion factors.
Customer Services segment revenue in 2005 is expected to be slightly down compared to 2004 as planned declines in
third-party maintenance contracts and price erosion continue to limit our ability to generate growth. We expect revenues from
our exited businesses to continue to decline in 2005, but not as materially as in prior years. However, due to an improving
mix of revenue and the cost actions mentioned above, operating income in 2005 is expected to improve compared to 2004.
NCR’s “Other” operating segment primarily relates to the resale of third-party computer hardware and related professional
and installation services in our high-availability and networking services businesses. Also included in this segment are the
financial results from a business in Japan that is not aligned with any of our other segments.
The following table presents “Other” segment revenue and operating losses for the years ended December 31:
“Other” segment

2003

2004

2002

In millions

Revenue
Operating (loss)

$
$

Operating (loss) as a percent of revenue

196
(35)
(17.9)%

$
$

242
(48)

$
$

(19.8)%

287
(46)
(16.0)%

Revenue is expected to decline in this segment as we concentrate on reducing our third-party product sales in order to focus
on sales and services of NCR’s products. However, we also anticipate a lower loss in this segment as we reduce costs associated
with this activity.
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RE-ENGINEERING
In the third quarter of 2002, we announced re-engineering plans to improve operational efficiency throughout NCR. We are
targeting process improvements to drive simplification, standardization, globalization and consistency across the organization.
During 2004, despite the unfavorable movement of foreign exchange, our success in reducing costs and expenses put us
firmly on track to deliver $250 million of annualized cost savings by 2005 and an additional $100 million through 2006,
using 2002 results as a starting point. In addition to the activities described above in our businesses, we are making changes
in our infrastructure to bring our costs in line with industry benchmarks. Regarding NCR’s internal information technology, we
continue to replace all major company applications, migrating from country-centric applications to new enterprise applications
such as our Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system, our global human resources system, and our Teradata Enterprise
Data Warehouse. Our ERP implementation is on schedule and we expect to have 91% of all revenue-generating countries
around the world on ERP by mid-2005. In our human resources organization, we have improved efficiencies and reduced
costs by centralizing our staffing organization and controlling our external recruitment expenses. In our finance and
administration area, we are reorganizing and reducing our workforce to a lower cost structure. In 2003, NCR entered into a
service agreement with Accenture LLP (Accenture), a global outsourcing services provider, under which many of NCR’s key
transaction processing activities, including overall and day-to-day responsibility for order and revenue processing, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, and the Company’s general ledger function, will be performed by Accenture. The transition of
responsibility for these activities, which is 85% complete, began in the fourth quarter of 2003, and will continue into 2005.
As part of this transition, NCR’s transaction processing activities will be streamlined and standardized for improved efficiency
and consistency of practices globally. As a result, we expect to significantly reduce our overall finance and administration
costs and optimize the use of global and regional centers for transaction processing.
Another element of the re-engineering is our real estate consolidation and restructuring plan. During 2004, we reduced our
number of properties by 97, representing a 22% reduction in total properties from 2003. Although the reduction in number
of properties may be lower in future periods as compared to 2004, we will continue to reduce excess square footage through
better utilization of current space, increasing the use of virtual offices and the sale of underutilized facilities.
In connection with our 2002 restructuring plan, a pre-tax restructuring charge of $8 million was recorded in the fourth
quarter of 2002 under EITF Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other
Costs to Exit an Activity,” to provide for contractual lease termination costs. The balance of this recorded liability at
December 31, 2004 was $3 million. During 2004, the Company utilized $4 million of the reserve. The majority of the lease
obligations will continue through 2005, with one obligation continuing to 2009.

EFFECTS OF PENSION, POSTEMPLOYMENT, AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS
Cost of revenue and total expenses for the years ended December 31 were impacted by certain employee benefit plans as
shown below:
2003

2004

2002

In millions

Pension expense (income)
Postemployment expense
Postretirement expense

$

135
95
3

$

105
79
8

$

(74)
75
16

Net expense

$

233

$

192

$

17

We recorded $135 million of pension expense in 2004 versus $105 million pension expense in 2003. The higher amount was
due primarily to changes in the discount rate and the impact of the investment performance of our pension fund portfolio in
the difficult market environments during 2000 through 2002. We expect pension expense of approximately $135 million
to $140 million in 2005. Also during 2004, we made changes to our U.S. defined benefit pension plans in order to limit
participation only to employees who were at least 40 years old and hired by August 31, 2004. As of September 1, 2004, the
plans were closed to new participants.
Postemployment expense (severance and disability medical) increased to $95 million in 2004, versus $79 million in 2003.
This increase in expense was mainly due to an expected higher level of involuntary turnover, primarily driven by the
restructuring of Customer Services as well as lower discount rates in many countries in 2004. Expense increased $4 million
in 2003 versus 2002, due primarily to lower discount rates and higher disability claims.
Postretirement plan expense (medical) in 2004 was $3 million versus $8 million in 2003. The decrease in expense was
primarily due to the elimination of the U.S. postretirement life insurance benefit, and increases in retiree cost sharing
announced in 2003. In December 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003
became law in the United States. This new law will not have any material impact on NCR’s postretirement plan liabilities
or expense as the Company does not provide prescription drug benefits to its Medicare-eligible retirees.
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GROSS MARGIN
In 2004, gross margin as a percentage of total revenue declined to 27.0% from 27.4% in 2003. Both product and services
gross margins were down versus the prior year. Most of the decline was due to $20 million higher pension cost recorded in
cost of sales in 2004 compared to 2003. Additionally, pricing pressure had an adverse effect on gross margin rate.
In 2003, gross margin as a percentage of total revenue declined to 27.4% from 28.4% in 2002. While our product gross
margin showed a 1.8 percentage point improvement, services margin decreased 3.6 percentage points. Product gross margin
increased due to higher margins in Retail Store Automation from higher revenues and cost reductions, improved margins in
Data Warehousing from a favorable mix shift to higher-margin software, and volume increases and cost reduction measures
in Financial Self Service. The decline in services margin is primarily due to the inclusion of $51 million of pension expense
in 2003 versus $49 million of pension income in 2002.

OPERATING EXPENSES
Our 2004 operating expenses, characterized as “selling, general, and administrative expenses” along with “research and
development expenses” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, decreased to $1,383 million in 2004 versus $1,404 million
in 2003. Lower expenses were directly related to the continued actions to reduce our infrastructure and back-office
expenditures. The reduction in these areas was partially offset by the increased investment in sales and demand creation in
our Data Warehouse and Financial Self Service segments, research and development, and $10 million more of pension expense.
Operating expenses for 2003 were $1,404 million compared to $1,398 million for 2002. The negative impact of pension
expense and foreign currency fluctuations was greater than the expense reductions we achieved during 2003. For 2003,
operating expenses included $47 million of pension expense compared to $15 million of pension income in 2002.
In 2005, we plan to continue reducing our infrastructure costs; however, as was the case in 2004, a portion of our cost
savings will be reinvested to improve demand generation capabilities. We are committed to new product development and
will focus on achieving maximum yield from our research and development spending and resources.

INTEREST AND OTHER EXPENSE AND INCOME ITEMS
Interest expense was $23 million in 2004, $26 million in 2003 and $19 million in 2002. The decrease in interest expense in
2004 from 2003 was driven by lower interest rates from an interest rate swap and by the elimination of certain borrowings
against company-owned life insurance policies. The increase in interest expense in 2003 from 2002 was due to the issuance
in June 2002 of $300 million of senior unsecured notes, which are due in 2009. The notes carry an interest rate of 7.125%;
however, the rate increased to 7.375% in November 2002 because certain registration requirements under the Securities Act
of 1933 were not met. These registration requirements were met in May 2003, and the interest rate was adjusted to its original
fixed rate. In November 2003, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement that converted $50 million of the
debt to a variable rate. Although this variable rate was lower than the fixed rate as of December 31, 2004, changes in the
interest rate markets could raise the variable rate of the swap above the fixed rate of the debt, which would lead to higher
expenses and cash outflows.
Other income and expense, net, was $41 million of income, $32 million of expense, and $39 million of expense in 2004,
2003, and 2002, respectively. 2004 included $17 million of real estate gains, $3 million related to receipt of an acquisition
break-up fee, $4 million for recovery of a non-trade receivable that was previously fully reserved, and a $9 million release of
a reserve for exit of certain countries in the Middle East and Africa region. The reserve was previously made to account for
an expected loss on sale when the Company anticipated exiting certain countries. However, due to a realignment in strategy
in late 2004, the Company now believes it can profitably market an attractive range of products to these countries by utilizing
a shared resource infrastructure.
In 2003, due to the reassessment of the accrual for the potential future liability related to the Fox River environmental matter,
we recorded $37 million in net other expense. The risks and uncertainties associated with this matter are discussed in the
Environmental and Legal Contingencies section of the Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates section of this MD&A and
in Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. The 2002 other expense consisted primarily of a $14 million
investment basis write-down of marketable securities in Japan for losses that were considered to be other than temporary, a
$9 million charge relating to an indemnification claim made by Lucent Technologies, Inc. (Lucent), $8 million of real estate
consolidation impairment charges and $6 million of costs relating to the disposition of a small non-strategic business. We
reversed $6 million of the 2002 Lucent indemnification charge in the first quarter of 2003, which resulted in recognition of
other income due to updated information received from Lucent as to the actual extent of the claim.
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INCOME TAX
Income tax benefit was $39 million in 2004 compared to income tax expense of $14 million in 2003 and income tax expense
of $3 million in 2002. The income tax benefit in 2004 included an $85 million benefit resulting from a favorable settlement
of audit items relating to the period when NCR was a subsidiary of AT&T. The income tax expense in 2003 included $24 million
for an increase to the valuation allowance established against deferred tax assets of NCR’s Japanese subsidiaries. The
income tax expense in 2002 was reduced by a $15 million benefit relating to the resolution of outstanding issues on refund
claims from the U.S. and French governments.
Our effective tax benefit rate was approximately 16% for 2004, including the $85 million tax benefit. Excluding the $85 million,
our effective tax rate was 18%. The 2004 effective tax rate was also favorably impacted by profit generated in several foreign
countries which have lower effective tax rates due to prior-year losses. Our effective tax rate was approximately 19% for
2003, and included the impact of the reserve taken for the Fox River environmental matter and income related to the Lucent
indemnification claim. These items provided a 5 percentage point benefit to the effective tax rate for 2003. Each year, our
effective tax rate includes a certain amount of benefit related to the use of foreign tax credits. For 2003 and 2002, the
amount of such benefits as compared to the amount of income before tax was larger than prior years. Our effective tax rate
was approximately 2% for 2002 including the tax impacts relating to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard No. 142 (SFAS 142), “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” and the benefit from the resolution of outstanding
issues on refund claims. These items provided a 12 percentage point benefit to the effective tax rate for 2002. We anticipate
our effective tax rate will be approximately 25% in 2005. However, changes in profit mix or one-time events, such as audit
settlements, could change this rate.

CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF ACCOUNTING CHANGE
The cumulative effect of accounting change in 2002 was a non-cash, net-of-tax goodwill impairment charge of $348 million
which relates to the adoption of SFAS 142.

FINANCIAL CONDITION, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
To assess the financial performance of the Company, NCR’s management uses a non-GAAP measure called “free cash flow,”
which we define as net cash provided by operating activities less capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment,
reworkable service parts, and additions to capitalized software. The components that are used to calculate free cash flow are
GAAP measures disclosed on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. We believe free cash flow is a useful measure for
investors because it relates the operating cash flow of the Company to the capital that is spent to continue and to improve
business operations. In particular, free cash flow indicates the amount of cash available after capital expenditures for,
among other things, investments in the Company’s existing businesses, strategic acquisitions, repurchase of NCR stock
and repayment of debt obligations. This non-GAAP measure should not be considered a substitute for, or superior to, cash
flows from operating activities. The table below shows the changes in net cash provided by operating activities and capital
expenditures for the following years:
2003

2004

2002

In millions

Net cash provided by operating activities
Less:
Net expenditures and proceeds for service parts
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment
Additions to capitalized software

$

Free cash flow

$

436

$

$

(96)
(63)
(70)

(92)
(77)
(85)
182

441

$

212

247
(113)
(81)
(65)

$

(12)

The amount of net cash provided by operating activities in 2004 was similar to the amount generated in 2003. However,
in 2004, the amount was driven almost entirely by income (adjusted for non-cash items). In contrast, cash provided by
operating activities in 2003 was made up of a much lower amount of income (adjusted for non-cash items), but was
supplemented by a net reduction in working capital which positively impacted cash flow. The increase in our net income
in 2004 as compared to 2003 was driven by an increase in revenue and by our cost and expense reduction initiatives.
The net changes in asset and liability balances in 2004 had a minimal impact on operating cash flow as increases in assets
were generally offset by increases in liabilities. Increases in current payables as well as increases in customer deposits and
deferred service revenue favorably impacted cash flow by $91 million and $43 million, respectively. The increase in current
payables was largely due to continued improvements in payment terms as well as higher volume of payables driven by higher
revenue volumes in the fourth quarter as compared to the prior year. The customer deposits and deferred service revenue
balance increased due to improved terms for the collection of maintenance services billings. Offsetting the positive cash flow
impact from increases in these liabilities were increases in accounts receivables and inventory balances, which had a negative
impact on cash flow of $70 million and $46 million, respectively. The increase in accounts receivable was driven by higher
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fourth quarter sales, which were $145 million more than in the same period of the prior year. The impact of this increase in
fourth quarter sales was somewhat mitigated by improved collection times as compared to the prior year period. Inventory
balances continued to increase in 2004 mostly due to Retail Store Automation’s continued conversion to a configure-to-order
model, which drives shorter lead times but increases inventory on hand.
In 2004, our capital expenditures increased to $254 million from $229 million in 2003. We expect capital expenditures for
2005 to be approximately $250 million, which is about equal to our expected 2005 depreciation and amortization expense.
We expect net cash provided by operating activities less capital expenditures, otherwise defined as free cash flow, to be
more than $200 million in 2005.
Financing activities and certain other investing activities are not included in our calculations of free cash flow. These other
investing actvities included net proceeds of $50 million from the purchases and sales of short-term investments, proceeds of
$68 million from the sales of real estate, and cash outflows of $36 million for activities largely consisting of our purchase of
Kinetics, Inc. for $26 million.
Our financing activities in 2004 mainly consisted of cash outflows from our share repurchase activities and cash inflows
from the issuance of shares through our employee stock plans. During 2004, we purchased 17.2 million shares of NCR
common stock for $428 million as compared to 8.2 million shares purchased for $90 million in 2003. Shares for 2004 and
2003 reflect the impact of a two-for-one stock split effective January 21, 2005. Cash inflows from stock plans were $260 million
in 2004 compared to $35 million in 2003. The increase in cash inflows was driven by an increase in the number of options
exercised by employees. The overall impact of our share purchases and issuances in 2004 was a reduction of 2.8 million
shares outstanding as compared to 2003. The share purchases are part of a systematic purchase program authorized by
NCR’s Board of Directors. We will continue this program in 2005; however, the amount of stock purchases may vary from
past years depending on the amount of exercises of stock compensation awards and employee stock purchase plan activity.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
In the normal course of business, we enter into various contractual obligations that impact, or could impact, the liquidity of
our operations. The following table and discussion outlines our material obligations at December 31, 2004, with projected
cash payments in the years shown:
Total Amounts

2005

2006-2007

2010 and
thereafter

2008-2009

In millions

Debt obligations
Lease obligations
Purchase obligations

$

309
265
559

$

2
55
404

$

–
84
53

$

301
50
37

$

6
76
65

Total debt, lease and purchase obligations

$ 1,133

$

461

$

137

$

388

$

147

As of December 31, 2004, we have long-term debt totaling $307 million, of which a significant portion is from our 7.125%
senior unsecured notes due in 2009. As previously discussed, $50 million of the notes were converted to a variable rate in
November 2003 through an interest rate swap agreement. Interest payments for the debt are payable semi-annually in
arrears on each June 15 and December 15, and contain certain covenants typical of this type of debt instrument.
Our lease obligations are primarily for certain sales and manufacturing facilities in various domestic and international
locations. Purchase obligations represent committed purchase orders and other contractual commitments for goods or
services. The purchase obligation amounts were determined through information in our procurement systems and payment
schedules for significant contracts. Included in the amounts are committed payments in relation to the long-term service
agreement with Accenture.
We have short- and long-term liabilities in relation to the Fox River environmental matter that may require future cash
payments. We also have product warranties and several guarantees to third parties that may affect future cash flow. These
“Commitments and Contingencies” are described in detail in Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Our U.S. and international employee benefit plans, which are described in Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, “Employee Benefit Plans,” could require significant future cash payments. The unfunded status of NCR’s U.S.
retirement plans increased to $178 million in 2004 from $163 million in 2003. The increase is attributable to an increase in
benefit obligations resulting from the reduction in the discount rate used to calculate the present value of future pension
liabilities which was partially offset by an above-market return on pension assets. The unfunded status of our international
retirement plans also increased from $238 million to $281 million. Asset returns and Company contributions both contributed
positively, but were offset by increases in our benefit obligations due to reductions in our discount rate assumptions, additional
benefit accruals and foreign currency translation adjustments. The Company did not make any contributions to its U.S.
qualified pension plan in 2004, and we will not be required to make any contributions in 2005. Contributions to international
and executive pension plans are expected to increase from $111 million in 2004 to approximately $132 million in 2005.
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In October 2004, the Company replaced a $200 million 364-day unsecured credit facility with a $200 million five-year
unsecured credit facility with a syndicate of financial institutions. In addition to the $200 million facility, the Company has
a $400 million, five-year unsecured revolving credit facility which the Company entered into in October 2001. The credit
facilities contain certain representations and warranties; conditions; affirmative, negative and financial covenants; and
events of default customary for such facilities. Interest rates charged on borrowings outstanding under the credit facilities
are based on prevailing market rates. No amounts were outstanding under the facilities at December 31, 2004 and 2003.
Our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments totaled $750 million as of December 31, 2004. We believe our cash
flows from operations, the credit facilities (existing or future arrangements), the 7.125% senior notes, and other short- and
long-term debt financing, will be sufficient to satisfy our future working capital, research and development activities, capital
expenditures, pension contributions and other financing requirements for the foreseeable future. Our ability to generate
positive cash flows from operations is dependent on general economic conditions, competitive pressures, and other business
and risk factors described below in “Factors That May Affect Future Results.” If we are unable to generate sufficient cash
flows from operations, or otherwise comply with the terms of our credit facilities and the 7.125% senior notes, we may be
required to refinance all or a portion of our existing debt or seek additional financing alternatives.

FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS
This report and other documents that we file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), as well as other
oral or written statements we may make from time to time, contain information based on management’s beliefs and include
forward-looking statements (within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995) that involve a
number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions. These forward-looking statements are not guarantees
of future performance, and there are a number of factors including, but not limited to, those listed below, which could cause
actual outcomes and results to differ materially from the results contemplated by such forward-looking statements. We do not
undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise.

ECONOMIC PRESSURES
Our business is affected by the global economies in which we operate. The current economic climate, which
includes decreased and/or more closely scrutinized capital spending by many industries, could impact our ability to meet
our commitments to customers, the ability of our suppliers to meet their commitments to us, the timing of purchases by our
current and potential customers, or the ability of our customers to fulfill their obligations to us on a timely basis. The extent
of this impact, if any, is dependent on a number of factors, including the duration of the current economic climate, its effect
on the markets and other general economic and business conditions.

COMPETITION
Our ability to compete effectively within the technology industry is critical to our future success. We operate
in the intensely competitive information technology industry. This industry is characterized by rapidly changing technology,
evolving industry standards, frequent new product introductions, price and cost reductions, and increasingly greater
commoditization of products, making differentiation difficult. Our competitors include other large companies in the technology
industry such as: International Business Machines, Inc. (IBM), Oracle Corporation, Diebold, Inc., Wincor Nixdorf GmbH & Co.,
Getronics NV, and Unisys Corporation, some of which have widespread distribution and penetration of their platforms
and service offerings. In addition, we compete with companies in specific markets such as self-checkout, entry-level ATMs,
payment and imaging, and business consumables and media products.
Our future competitive performance and market position depend on a number of factors, including our ability to: react to
competitive product and pricing pressures and meet the changing competitive requirements and deliverables in developing
and emerging markets, such as India and China in the ATM business; rapidly and continually design, develop and market,
or otherwise maintain and introduce solutions and related products and services for our customers that are competitive in
the marketplace; react on a timely basis to shifts in market demands; compete in reverse auctions for new and continuing
business; take advantage of data warehousing market demands; reduce costs without creating operating inefficiencies;
maintain competitive operating margins; improve product and service delivery quality; and effectively market and sell all
of our diverse solutions. Our business and operating performance could be impacted by external competitive pressures, such
as increasing price erosion and the addition of new competitors.
Our customers sometimes finance our product sales through third-party financing companies. In case of customer default,
these financing companies may be forced to resell this equipment at discounted prices impacting our ability to sell
incremental units. The impact of these product and pricing pressures could include lower customer satisfaction, decreased
demand for our solutions, loss of market share and reduction of operating profits.
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OPERATING RESULT FLUCTUATIONS
Our revenue and operating results could fluctuate for a number of reasons including:
Seasonality Our sales are historically seasonal, with lower revenue in the first quarter and higher revenue in the fourth
quarter of each year. Such seasonality also causes our working capital cash flow requirements to vary from quarter to quarter
depending on the variability in the volume, timing and mix of product sales. In addition, revenue in the third month of each
quarter is typically higher than in the first and second months. These factors, among other things, make forecasting more
difficult and may adversely affect our ability to predict financial results accurately.
Foreign Currency Our revenue and operating income are subject to variability due to the effects of foreign currency
fluctuations against the U.S. Dollar. We have exposure to approximately 50 functional currencies, in which our primary
exposure is from fluctuations in the Euro, British Pound, and Japanese Yen. Due to our global operations, weaknesses in
some of these currencies are sometimes offset by strengths in others. Although the foreign currency environment is difficult
to predict, the effects of currency fluctuations are partially mitigated by our hedging strategy.
Cost/Expense Reductions We are actively working to reduce our costs and expenses to improve operating profitability
without jeopardizing the quality of our products or the efficiencies of our operations. Our success in achieving targeted cost and
expense reductions depends on a number of factors, including our ability to achieve infrastructure rationalizations, drive lower
component costs, improve supply chain efficiencies, and reduce inventory levels, among other things. If we do not successfully
complete our cost reduction initiatives, our operating results or financial condition could be adversely affected.
Contractual Obligations of Consulting Services We maintain a professional services consulting workforce to fulfill
contracts that we enter into with our customers that may extend to multiple periods. Our profitability is largely a function
of performing to customer contractual arrangements within the estimated costs to perform these obligations. If we exceed
these estimated costs, our profitability related to these contracts may be negatively impacted. In addition, if we are not able
to maintain appropriate utilization rates for our consultants, we may not be able to sustain profitability on these contracts.
Acquisitions and Divestitures As part of our solutions strategy, we intend to selectively acquire and divest technologies,
products and businesses. As these acquisitions and divestures take place and we begin to include, or exclude as the case
may be, the financial results related to these transactions, it could cause our operating results to fluctuate.
Pension Funds Consistent with local competitive practice and regulations, we sponsor pension plans in many of the
countries where we do business. A number of these pension plans are supported by pension fund investments which are
subject to financial market risk. The liabilities and assets of these plans are reported in our financial statements in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards SFAS No. 87 (SFAS 87), “Employer’s Accounting for Pensions.”
In conforming to the requirements of SFAS 87, we are required to make a number of actuarial assumptions for each plan,
including expected long-term return on plan assets and discount rate. Our future financial results could be materially
impacted by volatility in financial market performance and changes in the actuarial assumptions, including those described
in our “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” disclosed below. Consistent with the requirements of paragraphs 44-45
of SFAS 87, we estimate our discount rate and long-term expected rate of return on assets assumptions on a country-by-country
basis after consultation with independent actuarial consultants. We examine interest rate trends within each country,
particularly yields on high-quality long-term corporate bonds, to determine our discount rate assumptions. Our long-term
expected rate of return on asset assumptions are developed by considering the asset allocation and implementation strategies
employed by each pension fund relative to capital market expectations.
Stock Option Accounting Similar to other companies, we use stock options as a form of compensation for certain
employees. Currently, the expense of these stock options is not reflected in the operating results under accounting guidance
from Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” In December 2004, the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004)
(SFAS 123(R)), “Share-Based Payment.” SFAS 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of
employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values. The amount recognized
for stock compensation could vary depending on a number of assumptions or changes. For example, assumptions such as
risk-free rate and expected volatility that drive our valuation model could change. Other examples that could have an impact
include changes in our compensation plans, tax rate, or an unusually high amount of expirations of stock options. Further
disclosure is reported in Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Stock Compensation,” and “Recently
Issued Accounting Pronouncements.”
Income Taxes We account for income taxes in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109
(SFAS 109), “Accounting for Income Taxes,” which recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities. We regularly review our
deferred tax assets for recoverability and establish a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or all
of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. If we are unable to generate sufficient future taxable income, or if there is a
material change in the actual effective tax rates or the time period within which the underlying temporary differences
become taxable or deductible, or if the tax laws change unfavorably, then we could be required to increase our valuation
allowance against our deferred tax assets, resulting in an increase in our effective tax rate.
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Real Estate Our strategy over the past several years with respect to real estate has been to reduce our holdings of excess
real estate. In line with this strategy, we anticipate the exit of certain facilities, which may affect net income. Adverse real
estate markets could impede our ability to reduce the size of our real estate portfolio.

MULTINATIONAL OPERATIONS
Generating substantial revenues from our multinational operations helps to balance our risks and meet our
strategic goals. In 2004, the percentage of revenues from outside of the United States was 57%. We believe that our
geographic diversity may help to mitigate some risks associated with geographic concentrations of operations (e.g., adverse
changes in foreign currency exchange rates and deteriorating economic environments or business disruptions due to
economic or political uncertainties). However, our ability to sell our solutions domestically in the United States and
internationally is subject to the following risks, among others: general economic and political conditions in each country
which could adversely affect demand for our solutions in these markets; currency exchange rate fluctuations which could
result in lower demand for our products as well as generate currency translation losses; changes to and compliance with
a variety of local laws and regulations which may increase our cost of doing business in these markets or otherwise prevent
us from effectively competing in these markets; changing competitive requirements and deliverables in developing and
emerging markets; and the impact of civil unrest relating to war and terrorist activity on the economy or markets in general,
or on our ability, or that of our suppliers, to meet commitments.

INTRODUCTION OF NEW SOLUTIONS
The solutions we sell are very complex, and we need to rapidly and successfully develop and introduce new
solutions in a competitive, rapidly changing environment. The development process for our solutions, including
our software application development programs and the migration of our Teradata Data Warehousing solution to the latest
hardware and software platforms, requires high levels of innovation from both our developers and our suppliers of the
components embedded in our solutions. In addition, the development process can be lengthy and costly, and requires us to
commit a significant amount of resources to bring our business solutions to market.
If we are unable to anticipate our customers’ needs and technological trends accurately, or are otherwise unable to complete
development efficiently, we would be unable to introduce new solutions into the market on a timely basis, if at all, and our
business and operating results could be impacted. Likewise, we sometimes make assurances to customers regarding new
technologies, and our results could be impacted if we are unable to deliver such technologies as planned. Also, if we cannot
successfully market and sell both existing and newly developed solutions, our business and operating results could be impacted.
Our hardware and software-based solutions may contain known, as well as undetected errors, which may be found after the
products’ introduction and shipment. While we attempt to remedy errors that we believe would be considered critical by our
customers prior to shipment, we may not be able to detect or remedy all such errors, and this could result in lost revenues,
delays in customer acceptance, and incremental costs, which would all impact our business and operating results.

RELIANCE ON THIRD PARTIES
Third-party suppliers provide important elements to our solutions. In most cases, there are a number of vendors
producing the parts and components that we utilize. However, there are some components that are purchased from
single sources due to price, quality, technology or other reasons. For example, we depend on silicon computer chips and
microprocessors from Intel Corporation and operating systems from Microsoft Corporation. Certain parts and components used
in the manufacture of our ATMs and the delivery of many of our Retail Store Automation solutions are also supplied by
single sources. In addition, there are a number of key suppliers for our businesses who provide us with critical products for
our solutions. If we were unable to purchase the necessary parts, components or products from a particular vendor and we
had to find an alternative supplier, our new and existing product shipments and solutions deliveries could be delayed,
impacting our business and operating results.
We have, from time to time, formed alliances with third parties that have complementary products, software, services
and skills. Many different relationships are formed by these alliances, such as outsourcing arrangements to manufacture
hardware and subcontract agreements with third parties to perform services and provide products and software to our
customers in connection with our solutions. For example, we rely on third parties for cash replenishment services for our
ATM products. Also, some of these third parties have access to confidential NCR and customer data, the integrity and
security of which we need to ensure. These alliances introduce risks that we cannot control, such as nonperformance by
third parties and difficulties with or delays in integrating elements provided by third parties into our solutions.
Lack of information technology infrastructure, shortages in business capitalization, manual processes and data integrity
issues of smaller suppliers can also create product time delays, inventory and invoicing problems and staging delays, as well
as other operating issues. The failure of third parties to provide high-quality products or services that conform to required
specifications or contractual arrangements could impair the delivery of our solutions on a timely basis, create exposure for
non-compliance with our contractual commitments to our customers and impact our business and operating results.
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INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
As a technology company, our intellectual property portfolio is key to our future ability to be a leading
technology and services solutions provider. To that end, it is critical that we continue to develop leading technologies
and protect and enhance our proprietary rights in our intellectual property through patent, copyright, trademark and trade
secret laws. These efforts include protection of the products and application, diagnostic and other software we develop. To the
extent we are not successful, our business could be adversely impacted. Also, many of our offerings rely on technologies
developed by others, and if we are not able to continue to obtain licenses for such technologies, our business would be impacted.
There has been a recent increase in the issuance of software and business method patents, and more companies are
aggressively enforcing their intellectual property rights. This trend could impact NCR because from time to time we receive
notices from third parties regarding patent and other intellectual property claims. Whether such claims are with or without
merit, they may require significant resources to defend. If an infringement claim is successful, in the event we are unable to
license the infringed technology or to substitute similar non-infringing technology, our business could be adversely affected.

WORK ENVIRONMENT
Restructuring and Re-engineering As we discussed above, we are implementing a re-engineering plan to drive
operational efficiency throughout our Company. In order to drive cost and expense out of our businesses, we are rationalizing
our infrastructure through real estate and support cost reductions including consolidating a portion of our product development
functions to locations outside of the United States; simplifying our front- and back-office processes by, for example,
standardizing global IT applications and finance and administration processes; reducing our product costs through design
and procurement initiatives; and working to lower our cost of services through completion of a global model for such services.
In addition, as part of our ongoing efforts to optimize our cost structure, from time to time, we shift and realign our employee
resources, which could temporarily result in substandard productivity levels. Also, as we move our transaction support
processes to Accenture, we have mutually agreed to schedules for the transition of work. An inability to meet the associated
timelines or commitments on the part of either NCR or Accenture could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s
results from operations, financial condition and cash flows. In addition to reducing costs and expenses, our plan includes
initiatives to grow revenue, such as improving sales training, addressing sales territory requirements, maintaining and
monitoring customer satisfaction with our solutions, and focusing on our strong value propositions. We currently have many
initiatives underway. If we are not successful in managing these initiatives and minimizing any resulting loss in productivity,
our business and operating results could be impacted.
Employees Our employees are vital to our success. Our ability to attract and retain highly skilled technical, sales,
consulting and other key personnel is critical, as these key employees are difficult to replace. Our current re-engineering
efforts may adversely impact our workforce. If we are not able to attract or retain highly qualified employees by offering
competitive compensation, secure work environments and leadership opportunities, our business could be impacted.
Internal Controls/Accounting Policies and Practices Our internal controls, accounting policies and practices, and
internal information systems enable us to capture and process transactions in a timely and accurate manner in compliance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, laws and regulations, taxation requirements
and federal securities laws and regulations. Our internal controls and policies are being closely monitored by management
as we implement a worldwide ERP system and transition our transaction support functions to Accenture. While we believe
these controls, policies, practices and systems are adequate to ensure data integrity, unanticipated and unauthorized actions
of employees (both domestic and international), temporary lapses in internal controls due to shortfalls in transition planning
and oversight, or resource constraints could lead to improprieties and undetected errors that could impact our financial
condition or results of operations. Moreover, while management has concluded that the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2004 (as set forth in “Report of Management” included later in this
annual report), due to its inherent limitations, such controls may not prevent or detect misstatements in our reported
financial statements. Such limitations include, among other things, the potential for human error or circumvention of
controls. Further, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting is subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of a failure to remediate control deficiencies, changes in conditions, or a deterioration of the degree
of compliance with established policies and procedures.
Information Systems It is periodically necessary to replace, upgrade, or modify our internal information systems. If we
are unable to replace, upgrade or modify such systems in a timely and cost-effective manner, especially in light of demands
on our information technology resources, our ability to capture and process financial transactions and therefore our financial
condition or results of operation may be impacted.

ACQUISITIONS AND ALLIANCES
Our ability to successfully integrate acquisitions or effectively manage alliance activities will help drive
future growth. As part of our overall solutions strategy, we intend to make investments in companies, products, services
and technologies, either through acquisitions, joint ventures or strategic alliances. Acquisitions and alliance activities
inherently involve risks. The risks we may encounter include those associated with assimilating and integrating different
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business operations, corporate cultures, personnel, infrastructures and technologies or products acquired or licensed, and the
potential for unknown liabilities within the acquired or combined business. The investment or alliance may also disrupt our
ongoing business, or we may not be able to successfully incorporate acquired products, services or technologies into our
solutions and maintain quality. Further, we may not achieve the projected synergies once we have integrated the business
into our operations. This may lead to additional costs not anticipated at the time of acquisition.
It is our policy not to discuss or comment upon negotiations regarding such business combinations or divestitures unless
they are material and a definitive agreement is signed or circumstances indicate a high degree of probability that a material
transaction will be consummated, unless the law requires otherwise.

ENVIRONMENTAL
Our historical and ongoing manufacturing activities subject us to environmental exposures. Our facilities and
operations are subject to a wide range of environmental protection laws, and we have investigatory and remedial activities
underway at a number of facilities that we currently own or operate, or formerly owned or operated, to comply, or to
determine compliance, with such laws. Given the uncertainties inherent in such activities, there can be no assurances
that the costs required to comply with applicable environmental laws will not impact future operating results.
We have also been identified as a potentially responsible party in connection with certain environmental matters, including
the Fox River matter, as further described in “Environmental Matters” under Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, “Commitments and Contingencies,” and in the “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” section of this
MD&A, and we incorporate such disclosures by reference and make them a part of this risk factor. As described in more
detail in such disclosures, we maintain an accrual for our potential liability relating to the Fox River matter which represents
certain critical estimates and judgments made by us regarding our potential liability; however, both the ultimate costs
associated with the Fox River matter and our share of those costs are subject to a wide range of potential outcomes.

CONTINGENCIES
Like other technology companies, we face uncertainties with regard to regulations, lawsuits and other related
matters. In the normal course of business, we are subject to proceedings, lawsuits, claims and other matters, including
those that relate to the environment, health and safety, employee benefits, export compliance, intellectual property and other
regulatory compliance and general matters. Because such matters are subject to many uncertainties, their outcomes are not
predictable. While we believe that amounts provided in our consolidated financial statements are currently adequate in light
of the probable and estimable liabilities, there can be no assurances that the amounts required to satisfy alleged liabilities
from such matters will not impact future operating results. Additionally, we are subject to diverse and complex laws and
regulations, including those relating to corporate governance, public disclosure and reporting, which are rapidly changing
and subject to many possible changes in the future. Although we do not believe that recent regulatory and legal initiatives
will result in significant changes to our internal practices or our operations, rapid changes in accounting standards, taxation
requirements, and federal securities laws and regulations, among others, may substantially increase costs to our organization
and could have an impact on our future operating results.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. In connection with the preparation of these
financial statements, we are required to make assumptions, estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and the related disclosure of contingent liabilities. These assumptions, estimates and
judgments are based on historical experience and assumptions that are believed to be reasonable at the time. However,
because future events and their effects cannot be determined with certainty, the determination of estimates requires the
exercise of judgment. Our critical accounting policies are those which require assumptions to be made about matters that
are highly uncertain. Different estimates could have a material impact on our financial results. Judgments and uncertainties
affecting the application of these policies and estimates may result in materially different amounts being reported under
different conditions or circumstances. Our management continually reviews these estimates and assumptions to ensure that
our financial statements are presented fairly and are materially correct.
In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by GAAP and does not require
significant management judgment in its application. There are also areas in which management’s judgment in selecting
among available alternatives would not produce a materially different result. The significant accounting policies and
estimates that we believe are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results are
discussed in the paragraphs below. Our senior management has reviewed these critical accounting policies and related
disclosures with our independent auditors and the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors (see Note 1 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, which contains additional information regarding our accounting policies and other
disclosures required by GAAP).
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REVENUE RECOGNITION
Consistent with other companies that provide similar solution offerings that include hardware, software, professional,
consulting and support services, revenue recognition is often complex and subject to multiple accounting pronouncements.
These include Statement of Position 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition,” Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104 (SAB 104),
“Revenue Recognition,” Emerging Issues Task Force No. 00-21 (Issue 00-21), “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple
Deliverables,” and other applicable revenue recognition guidance and interpretations.
We consider revenue realized, or realizable, and earned when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the products
or services have been provided to the customer, the sales price is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured.
Please refer to Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of our revenue recognition policies.
Revenue recognition for complex contractual arrangements requires a greater degree of judgment, including a review of
specific contracts, past experience, creditworthiness of customers, international laws and other factors. Changes in
judgments about these factors could impact the timing and amount of revenue recognized between periods.

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS
We evaluate the collectibility of our accounts receivable based on a number of factors. We establish provisions for doubtful
accounts using percentages of our accounts receivable balances as an overall proxy to reflect historical average credit losses
and provision for known issues. These percentages are applied to aged accounts receivable balances. Aged accounts are
determined based on the number of days the receivable is outstanding, measured from the date of the invoice, or from the
date on which payment is due. As the age of the receivable increases, the provision percentage also increases. This policy is
applied to all of our operating segments.
Based on the factors below, we periodically review customer account activity in order to assess the adequacy of the
allowances provided for potential losses. Factors include economic conditions and judgments regarding collectibility of
account balances, each customer’s payment history and creditworthiness.
The allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31 was $24 million in 2004, $27 million in 2003, and $25 million in
2002. These allowances represent 1.8%, 2.1% and 2.0% of gross receivables for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Although no near-term changes are expected, unforeseen changes to future allowance percentages could materially impact
overall financial results.
Given our experience, we believe that the reserves for potential losses are adequate, but if one or more of our larger
customers were to default on its obligations, we could be exposed to potentially significant losses in excess of the provisions
established. If economic conditions deteriorate, we may increase our reserves for doubtful accounts.

INVENTORY VALUATION
Inventories are stated at lower of cost or market. Each quarter, our business segments reassess raw materials, work-in-process,
parts and finished equipment inventory average costs for purchase or usage variances from standards, and valuation
adjustments are made. Additionally, to properly provide for potential exposure due to slow-moving, excess, obsolete or
unusable inventory, a reserve against inventory is established. This reserve is established based on forecasted usage, orders,
technological obsolescence and inventory aging. These factors are impacted by market conditions, technology changes, and
changes in strategic direction, and require estimates and management judgment that may include elements that are uncertain.
On a quarterly basis, we review the current market value of inventory and require each business segment to ensure that
inventory balances are adjusted for any inventory exposure due to age or excess of cost over market value.
We have inventory in more than 40 countries around the world. We transfer inventory from our plants to our distribution and
sales organizations. This inventory is transferred at cost plus mark-up. This mark-up is referred to as inter-company profit.
Each quarter we review our inventory levels and analyze our inter-company profit for each of our segments to determine the
amount of inter-company profit to eliminate. Key assumptions are made to estimate product gross margins, the product mix
of existing inventory balances and current period shipments. Over time, we refine these estimates as facts and circumstances
change. If our estimates require refinement, our results could be impacted.
Our excess and obsolete reserves for inventory were $56 million, $50 million and $51 million as of December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively, and represent 13.5%, 13.9% and 16.2% of our gross inventory balances for each period.
Although we strive to achieve a balance between market demands and risk of inventory obsolescence or excess quantities
caused by these factors, it is possible that, should conditions change, additional reserves may be needed. Any changes in
reserves will impact operating income during a given period. This policy is consistently applied to all of our operating
segments and we do not anticipate any changes to our policy in the near term.
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WARRANTY RESERVES
One of our key objectives is to provide superior quality products and services. To that end, we provide a standard
manufacturer’s warranty extending up to 12 months such that, should products under warranty require repair, no additional
cost of that repair will be charged to our customers. A corresponding estimated liability for potential warranty costs is also
recorded at the time of the sale. We sometimes offer extended warranties to our customers for purchase. We defer the fair
value of these revenues and recognize revenue over the life of the warranty. This impacts all segments of our business except
for the “Other” segment where minimal warranty, if any, is offered.
Future warranty obligation costs are based upon historic factors such as labor rates, average repair time, travel time, number
of service calls per machine and cost of replacement parts. Each segment consummating a sale recognizes the total customer
revenue and records the associated warranty liability based upon the pre-established warranty percentages for that product class.
Total warranty costs were $44 million, $43 million and $41 million, representing 1.4%, 1.5% and 1.4% of total product
revenues for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Historically, the principal factor used to
estimate our warranty costs has been service calls per machine. Significant changes in this factor could result in actual
warranty costs differing from accrued estimates. Although no near-term changes in our estimated warranty reserves are
currently anticipated, in the unlikely event of a significant increase in warranty claims by one or more of our larger
customers, costs to fulfill warranty obligations would be higher than provisioned, thereby impacting results.

PENSION, POSTRETIREMENT AND POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
We account for defined benefit pension plans in accordance with SFAS 87, which requires that amounts recognized in
financial statements be determined on an actuarial basis. Our postretirement plans are accounted for in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 106 (SFAS 106), “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits
Other Than Pensions,” and our postemployment plans are accounted for in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 112 (SFAS 112), “Employers’ Accounting for Postemployment Benefits.” We have significant
pension, postretirement and postemployment benefit costs and credits, which are developed from actuarial valuations.
Actuarial assumptions attempt to anticipate future events and are used in calculating the expense and liability relating to
these plans. These factors include assumptions we make about interest rates, expected investment return on plan assets, rate
of increase in health care costs, total and involuntary turnover rates, and rates of future compensation increases. In addition,
our actuarial consultants use subjective factors such as withdrawal rates and mortality rates to develop our valuations. We
generally review and update these assumptions on an annual basis at the beginning of each fiscal year. We are required
to consider current market conditions, including changes in interest rates, in making these assumptions. The actuarial
assumptions that we use may differ materially from actual results due to changing market and economic conditions, higher
or lower withdrawal rates or longer or shorter life spans of participants. These differences may result in a significant impact
to the amount of pension, postretirement or postemployment benefits expense we have recorded or may record. Postretirement
and postemployment expenses impact all of our segments, while pension expense is reported at the corporate level.
The key assumptions used in developing our 2004 pension and postretirement plan expense were the discount rate of 6.25%
and expected return on assets assumption of 8.5% for our U.S. plans, which represent 62% and 100% of pension and
postretirement plan obligations, respectively. Holding all other assumptions constant, a 0.25% change in the discount rate
used for the U.S. plans would have increased or decreased pre-tax 2004 income by approximately $9 million ($9 million in
pension expense and $0.1 million in postretirement expense). Likewise, a 0.25% change in the expected rate of return on
plan assets assumption for the U.S. pension plan would have increased or decreased pre-tax 2004 income by approximately
$6 million. Our expected return on plan assets has historically been and will likely continue to be material to net income.
While it is required that we review our actuarial assumptions each year at the measurement date, we generally do not
change them between measurement dates. We use a measurement date of December 31 for all of our plans. In determining
2005 pension and postretirement expense for the U.S. plans, we intend to use a discount rate of 5.75% and 5.25%,
respectively, and an expected rate of return on assets assumption of 8.5%. The most significant assumption used in
developing our 2004 postemployment plan expense was the assumed rate of involuntary turnover of 5%. The involuntary
turnover rate is based on historical trends and projections of involuntary turnover in the future. A 0.25% change in the rate
of involuntary turnover would have increased or decreased pre-tax 2004 expense by approximately $5 million. The
sensitivity of the assumptions described above is specific to each individual plan and not to our pension, postretirement,
and postemployment plans in the aggregate.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND LEGAL CONTINGENCIES
Each quarter, we review the status of each claim and legal proceeding and assess our potential financial exposure. If the
potential loss from any claim or legal proceeding is considered probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated, we
accrue a liability for the estimated loss, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 5 (SFAS 5),
“Accounting for Contingencies.” To the extent the amount of a probable loss is estimable only by reference to a range of
equally probable outcomes, and no amount within the range appears to be a better estimate than any other amount, we
accrue for the low end of the range. Because of uncertainties related to these matters, the use of estimates, assumptions and
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judgments, and external factors beyond our control, accruals are based on the best information available at the time. As
additional information becomes available, we reassess the potential liability related to our pending claims and litigation and
may revise our estimates. Such revisions in the estimates of the potential liabilities could have a material impact on our
results of operations and financial position. Except for the sharing agreement with Appleton Papers Inc. (API) described in
Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Commitments and Contigencies,” (Note 11) with respect to the
Fox River matter, when insurance carriers or third parties have agreed to pay any amounts related to costs, and we believe
that it is probable that we can collect such amounts, those amounts would be reflected as receivables in our consolidated
financial statements.
The most significant legal contingency impacting our Company relates to the Fox River matter, which is further described
in detail in Note 11. This matter impacts our Company overall and does not affect the financial results of any one of its
segments. As described in Note 11, NCR was identified as a potentially responsible party (PRP) at the Fox River site in
Wisconsin because of polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) discharges from two carbonless paper manufacturing facilities
previously owned by NCR located along the Fox River.
Our reserve for the Fox River matter was approximately $67 million as of December 31, 2004 (after taking into consideration
amounts expected to be recovered under an indemnity agreement discussed in Note 11). The Company regularly re-evaluates
the assumptions used in determining the appropriate reserve for the Fox River matter as additional information becomes
available and, when warranted, makes appropriate adjustments.
As described below and in Note 11, the extent of our potential liability in connection with the Fox River matter is subject to
many uncertainties at this time, including the amount of dredging that will be required by the U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency and the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (the Governments); how contaminated sediments will be
managed; the accuracy of existing cost estimates (actual costs could be substantially higher than estimated in the Governments’
clean-up plans or Records of Decision (RODs) that were issued in 2003); and the extent of NCR’s eventual liability.
In setting our reserve, we attempt to estimate a range of reasonably possible outcomes for relevant factors, although each
range is itself highly uncertain. We use our best estimate within the range if that is possible. Where there is a range of equally
probable outcomes, and there is no amount within that range that appears to be a better estimate than any other amount,
we use the low end of the range. Our eventual liability, which we expect will be paid out over a period of at least ten years,
and likely as long as twenty to forty or more years, will depend on a number of factors, the most significant of which include:
• The total clean-up costs for the site (we use the low end of the range – $480 million – which is derived from the
Governments’ estimates in the RODs, increased by 20% to account for what we determined were underestimates in
the Governments’ figures);
• The total natural resource damages for the site (we use the low end of the range – $176 million – which is derived
from Government estimates in a 2000 report);
• The share NCR and API will jointly bear of the total clean-up costs and natural resource damages (we use the
low end of the range, which is based primarily on an estimate of the joint NCR/API percentage of direct discharges
of PCBs to the Fox River);
• The share NCR will bear of the joint NCR/API payments for clean-up costs and natural resource damages
(we estimate we would pay approximately half of the total costs jointly attributable to NCR/API); and
• Our transaction costs to defend NCR in this matter (we have estimated the costs we are likely to incur over the next
ten years, the time period the Governments project it will take to design and implement the remedy for the Fox River).
AT&T and Lucent Technologies, Inc. (Lucent) are jointly responsible for indemnifying NCR for a portion of amounts for the
Fox River incurred by NCR over a certain threshold. NCR’s estimate of what AT&T and Lucent will pay under the indemnity
is recorded as a long-term receivable of $15 million and is deducted in determining the net amount discussed above.
While it remains difficult to predict, we do not expect there to be any significant near-term changes to any of the
above-described assumptions that are likely to have a material effect on the amount of our accrual. However, there are other
estimates for each of these factors which are significantly higher than the estimates described above. We believe there is
such uncertainty surrounding these estimates that we cannot quantify the high end of the range of such estimates. In any
event, assuming, for example, that the assumptions described above are each doubled (except where that would be inconsistent
with an existing agreement), and taking into account our payments under the interim settlement with the Governments
(discussed in Note 11), our payments for the potential liabilities for the Fox River matter would be approximately $320 million
(to be paid out over at least the ten-year period ending in 2013, and likely as long as twenty to forty or more years). AT&T
and Lucent are jointly responsible for indemnifying us for a portion of amounts incurred by our Company over a certain
threshold, and the $320 million estimate assumes they will make such payments. If we were in fact required to pay an
amount such as $320 million for NCR’s share of the Fox River liabilities, it would have a moderate but manageable impact
on our liquidity and capital resources, assuming that such amount was required to be paid over the time frame currently
contemplated. However, if such an amount were required to be paid in a shorter time period, it could have a material impact
on our liquidity or capital resources.
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INCOME TAXES
We account for income taxes in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109 (SFAS 109),
“Accounting for Income Taxes,” which recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities. The deferred tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on the enacted tax rates expected to apply in the periods in which the deferred tax assets or liabilities are
expected to be settled or realized.
We regularly review our deferred tax assets for recoverability and establish a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not
that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. The determination as to whether a deferred tax asset will
be realized is made on a jurisdictional basis and is based on the evaluation of positive and negative evidence. This evidence
includes historical taxable income, projected future taxable income, the expected timing of the reversal of existing temporary
differences and the implementation of tax planning strategies. Projected future taxable income is based on our expected
results and assumptions as to the jurisdiction in which the income will be earned. The expected timing of the reversals of
existing temporary differences is based on current tax law and our tax methods of accounting. We also review our liabilities
under SFAS No. 5, which requires an accrual for estimated losses when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and
the amount can be reasonably estimated. These projections and estimates may change in the future as actual results become known.
If we are unable to generate sufficient future taxable income, or if there is a material change in the actual effective tax rates
or the time period within which the underlying temporary differences become taxable or deductible, or if the tax laws change
unfavorably, then we could be required to increase our valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets, resulting in an
increase in our effective tax rate. The impact to our effective tax rate would be an increase of one percentage point for each
increase of $2.5 million to the valuation allowance as of December 31, 2004.
We had a valuation allowance of $585 million as of December 31, 2004, related to certain deferred income tax assets,
primarily tax loss carryforwards, in jurisdictions where there is uncertainty as to ultimate realization of a benefit from those
tax assets. As of December 31, 2003, the valuation allowance was $546 million.

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS
In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144 (SFAS 144), “Accounting for the Impairment
or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” long-lived assets to be held and used are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. When required, impairment losses on assets to be
held and used are recognized based on the fair value of the asset. We determine the fair value of these assets based upon
estimates of future cash flows, market value of similar assets, if available, or independent appraisals, if required. In analyzing
the fair value and recoverability using future cash flows, we make projections based on a number of assumptions and
estimates of growth rates, future economic conditions, assignment of discount rates and estimates of terminal values. An
impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of the long-lived asset is not recoverable from its undiscounted cash
flows. The measurement of impairment loss is the difference between the carrying amount and fair value of the asset. This
policy is applied to all of our operating segments. Long-lived assets to be disposed of and/or held for sale are reported at the
lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. We determine the fair value of these assets in the same manner as
described for assets held and used.
The FASB issued the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141 (SFAS 141), “Business Combinations,”
and SFAS 142 in June 2001. SFAS 141 specifies criteria that intangible assets acquired in a purchase method business
combination must be recognized and reported apart from goodwill. SFAS 142 requires that goodwill no longer be amortized,
but instead be tested for impairment at least annually. SFAS 142 also requires intangible assets with definite useful lives to
continue to be amortized over their respective useful lives and be tested for impairment whenever events and circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Indefinite life intangible assets must be tested annually to determine
whether events or circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful life. If the intangible asset is subsequently
determined to have a finite useful life, the asset shall be tested for impairment in accordance with SFAS 144. Similar to
goodwill, the assessment of impairment for intangible assets requires estimates of future cash flows. To the extent the carrying
value of the assets exceed their fair value, an impairment loss would be recorded. See Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, “Long-lived Assets,” for our disclosure regarding goodwill and intangible assets.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
A discussion of recently issued accounting pronouncements is described in Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, and we incorporate such discussion in this MD&A by reference and make it a part hereof.
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QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
We are exposed to market risk, including changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. We use a variety
of measures to monitor and manage these risks, including derivative financial instruments. Since a substantial portion of our
operations and revenue occur outside the United States, and in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar, our results can be
significantly impacted by changes in foreign currency exchange rates. To manage our exposures and mitigate the impact of
currency fluctuations on the operations of our foreign subsidiaries, we hedge our main transactional exposures through the use
of foreign exchange forward contracts. This is primarily done through the hedging of foreign currency denominated inter-company
inventory purchases by the marketing units and of foreign currency denominated inventory sales by the manufacturing units.
All of these transactions are firmly committed or forecasted. These foreign exchange contracts are designated as highly
effective cash flow hedges. The gains or losses are deferred in other comprehensive income and recognized in the determination
of income when the underlying hedged transaction impacts earnings. As we hedge inventory purchases, the ultimate gain or
loss from the derivative contract is recorded in cost of revenue when the inventory is sold to an unrelated third party.
We have exposure to approximately 50 functional currencies, in which our primary exposure is from fluctuations in the Euro,
British Pound, and Japanese Yen. Due to our global operations, weaknesses in some of these currencies are sometimes offset
by strengths in others. The U.S. Dollar was weaker in 2004 as compared to 2003 based on comparable weighted averages for
our functional currencies. This had a favorable impact of 4% on 2004 revenue versus 2003 revenue. This does not include
the effects of our hedging activities and, therefore, does not reflect the actual impact of fluctuations in exchange rates on our
operating income.
Our strategy is to hedge, on behalf of each subsidiary, a portion of our non-functional currency denominated cash flows for a
period of up to 15 months. In this way, some of the impact of currency fluctuations on non-functional currency denominated
transactions (and hence on subsidiary operating income, as stated in the functional currency) is mitigated in the near term.
The amount we hedge and the length of time hedge contracts are entered into may vary significantly. In the longer term
(longer than the hedging period of up to 15 months), the subsidiaries are still subject to the impacts of foreign currency
fluctuations. In addition, the subsidiary results are still subject to any impact of translating the functional currency results
to U.S. Dollars. When hedging certain foreign currency transactions of a long-term investment nature (net investments in
foreign operations), the gains and losses are recorded in the currency translation adjustment component of stockholders’
equity. Gains and losses on other foreign exchange contracts are recognized in other income or expense as exchange rates change.
For purposes of potential risk analysis, we use sensitivity analysis to quantify potential impacts that market rate changes
may have on the fair values of our hedge portfolio related to firmly committed or forecasted transactions. The sensitivity
analysis represents the hypothetical changes in value of the hedge position and does not reflect the related gain or loss on
the forecasted underlying transaction. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, a 10% appreciation in the value of the U.S. Dollar
against foreign currencies from the prevailing market rates would result in increases of $20 million and $14 million in the
fair value of the hedge portfolio, respectively. Conversely, a 10% depreciation of the U.S. Dollar against foreign currencies
from the prevailing market rates would result in decreases of $20 million and $14 million in the fair value of the hedge
portfolio as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
The interest rate risk associated with our borrowing and investing activities at December 31, 2004, was not material in
relation to our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows. In 2003, we swapped a portion of our
7.125% senior unsecured notes from the fixed rate to a variable rate. The swap is described in more detail in Note 10 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
We utilize non-exchange traded financial instruments, such as foreign exchange forward contracts that we purchase
exclusively from highly-rated financial institutions. We record these contracts on our balance sheet at fair market value
based upon market price quotations from the financial institutions. We do not enter into non-exchange traded contracts that
require the use of fair value estimation techniques, but if we did, they could have a material impact on our financial results.
Also, we do not enter into hedges for speculative purposes.
We are potentially subject to concentrations of credit risk on accounts receivable and financial instruments, such as hedging
instruments, short-term investments, and cash and cash equivalents. Credit risk includes the risk of nonperformance by
counterparties. The maximum potential loss may exceed the amount recognized on the balance sheet. Exposure to credit risk
is managed through credit approvals, credit limits, selecting major international financial institutions (as counterparties to
hedging transactions) and monitoring procedures. Our business often involves large transactions with customers for which
we do not require collateral. If one or more of those customers were to default in its obligations under applicable contractual
arrangements, we could be exposed to potentially significant losses. Moreover, a downturn in the global economy could have
an adverse impact on the ability of our customers to pay their obligations on a timely basis. We believe that the reserves for
potential losses are adequate. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, we did not have any major concentration of credit risk
related to financial instruments.
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We are responsible for the preparation, integrity, and objectivity of our consolidated financial statements and other financial
information presented in our annual report. The accompanying consolidated financial statements were prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and include certain amounts
based on currently available information and our judgment of current conditions and circumstances.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, is engaged to perform audits of our
consolidated financial statements. These audits are performed in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Our independent auditors were given unrestricted access to all financial
records and related data, including minutes of all meetings of shareholders, the Board of Directors, and committees of the
Board. The Company believes that all representations made to the independent accountants during their audits were valid
and appropriate.
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, consisting entirely of independent directors who are not employees of NCR,
monitors our accounting, reporting, and internal control structure. Our independent auditors, internal auditors, and management
have complete and free access to the Audit Committee, which periodically meets directly with each group to ensure that
their respective duties are being properly discharged.

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined
in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal control over financial
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company
are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations due to, for example, the potential for human error or circumvention of controls, internal
control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness
to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Our management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2004. In making this assessment, we used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control – Integrated Framework. Based on our assessment, we determined that,
as of December 31, 2004, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria.
Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of NCR’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004
has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their
report which appears on page 27 of this Annual Report.

Mark V. Hurd
Director, President and
Chief Executive Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of NCR Corporation:
We have completed an integrated audit of NCR Corporation’s 2004 consolidated financial statements and of its internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 and audits of its 2003 and 2002 consolidated financial statements
in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Our opinions, based
on our audits, are presented below.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations, of
changes in stockholders’ equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of NCR
Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these
statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
As discussed in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, on January 1, 2002, NCR Corporation adopted
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting, that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004 based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria.
Furthermore, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the
COSO. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on
management’s assessment and on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit. We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. An audit of internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control, and performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Dayton, Ohio
March 2, 2005
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the year ended December 31

2003

2004

2002

In millions, except per share amounts

Revenue

Product revenue
Service revenue

$ 3,164
2,820

$

2,835
2,763

$

2,885
2,700

5,984

5,598

5,585

2,037
2,331
1,141
242

1,800
2,264
1,171
233

1,883
2,115
1,166
232

Total operating expenses

5,751

5,468

5,396

Income from operations

233

130

189

Interest expense
Other (income) expense, net

23
(41)

26
32

19
39

Income before income taxes and
cumulative effect of accounting change

251

72

131

(39)

14

3

290

58

128

–

–

(348)

Total revenue
Operating expenses

Cost of products
Cost of services
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Research and development expenses

Income tax (benefit) expense
Income before cumulative effect
of accounting change

Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax
$

290

$

58

$

(220)

Basic before cumulative effect of accounting change
Cumulative effect of accounting change

$

1.55
–

$

0.31
–

$

0.65
(1.78)

Basic

$

1.55

$

0.31

$

(1.13)

Diluted before cumulative effect of accounting change
Cumulative effect of accounting change

$

1.51
–

$

0.30
–

$

0.64
(1.74)

Diluted

$

1.51

$

0.30

$

(1.10)

Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per common share

Weighted average common shares outstanding

Basic
Diluted

187.6
191.5

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
Per share amounts reflect a two-for-one stock split effective on January 21, 2005.

28 >

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

>

NCR04

190.0
191.7

195.7
199.8

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
At December 31

2003

2004

In millions, except per share amounts

Assets

Current assets
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories, net
Other current assets

$

750
1,304
355
224

$

689
1,230
308
195

Total current assets

2,633

2,422

Reworkable service parts and rental equipment, net
Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill
Prepaid pension cost
Deferred income taxes (Note 7)
Other assets

224
446
124
1,446
372
309

232
514
105
1,386
275
263

Total assets

$ 5,554

$

5,197

$

$

3
414
300
362
500

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity

Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings
Accounts payable
Payroll and benefits liabilities
Customer deposits and deferred service revenue
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Pension and indemnity plan liabilities
Postretirement and postemployment benefits liabilities
Income taxes (Note 7)
Other liabilities
Minority interests
Total liabilities

2
492
328
407
495
1,724

1,579

307
517
244
492
166
18

307
484
272
447
211
22

3,468

3,322

–

–

2
1,030
989
65

1
1,166
699
9

2,086

1,875

Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
Stockholders’ equity

Preferred stock: par value $0.01 per share, 100.0 shares
authorized, no shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively
Common stock: par value $0.01 per share, 500.0 shares
authorized, 186.6 and 94.7 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively
Paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$ 5,554

$

5,197

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
2004 shares issued reflect a two-for-one stock split effective on January 21, 2005.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended December 31

2003

2004

2002

In millions

Operating activities

Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash
by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Deferred income taxes
Income tax adjustment
Goodwill impairment
Other adjustments to income, net
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Inventories
Current payables
Customer deposits and deferred service revenue
Employee severance and pension
Other assets and liabilities

$

290

$

58

$

(220)

275
(15)
(85)
–
(19)

315
9
–
–
1

328
(27)
–
348
50

(70)
(46)
91
43
(3)
(25)

(26)
(45)
122
22
(7)
(8)

(90)
18
(12)
21
(155)
(14)

436

441

247

(30)
80
(92)
(77)
68
(85)
(36)

(77)
67
(96)
(63)
7
(70)
(3)

(135)
95
(113)
(81)
23
(65)
16

(172)

(235)

(260)

Purchases of Company common stock
Short-term borrowings, additions
Short-term borrowings, repayments
Long-term debt, additions
Long-term debt, repayments
Proceeds from employee stock plans
Other financing activities, net

(428)
1
(2)
–
–
260
–

(90)
1
(3)
1
–
35
(20)

(66)
101
(234)
299
(3)
51
3

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

(169)

(76)

151

16

23

13

111
639

153
486

151
335

Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities

Purchases of short-term investments
Proceeds from sales and maturities of short-term investments
Net expenditures and proceeds for reworkable service parts
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment
Additions to capitalized software
Other investing activities, net
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$

750

$

639

$

486

$
$

61
23

$
$

43
21

$
$

29
19

Supplemental data

Cash paid during the year for:
Income taxes
Interest
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

30 >

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

>

NCR04

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common Stock
Shares
Amount

Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total

In millions

December 31, 2001

1

$ 1,235

2
(2)

–
–

48
(66)

–
–

–
–

48
(66)

97

1

1,217

861

(70)

2,009

Net loss
Other comprehensive (loss), net of tax:
Currency translation adjustments
Unrealized losses on securities:
Unrealized holding losses arising
during the period
Less: reclassification adjustment for
losses included in net income
Changes in additional minimum
pension liability
Unrealized losses on derivatives

–

–

–

(220)

–

(220)

–

–

–

–

101

101

–

–

–

–

(7)

(7)

–

–

–

–

6

6

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

(551)
(13)

(551)
(13)

Comprehensive (loss)

–

–

–

(220)

(464)

(684)

1

$ 1,217

(534)

$ 1,325

Employee stock purchase
and stock compensation plans
Purchase of Company common stock
Subtotal

December 31, 2002

97

97

$

$

$

$

861

641

$

$

(70)

$ 2,027

Employee stock purchase
and stock compensation plans
Purchase of Company common stock

2
(4)

–
–

39
(90)

–
–

–
–

39
(90)

Subtotal

95

1

1,166

641

(534)

1,274

–

–

–

58

–

58

–

–

–

–

48

48

Net income
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Currency translation adjustments
Unrealized gains on securities:
Unrealized holding gains arising
during the period
Changes in additional minimum
pension liability
Unrealized gains on derivatives

–

–

–

–

5

5

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

490
–

490
–

Comprehensive income

–

–

–

58

543

601

1

$ 1,166

9

$ 1,875

December 31, 2003

95

Employee stock purchase
and stock compensation plans
Purchase of Company common stock
Stock split in the form of a stock dividend

7
(9)
94

Subtotal

$

–
–
1

$

293
(428)
(1)

699

$

–
–
–

–
–
–

293
(428)
–

187

2

1,030

699

9

1,740

Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Currency translation adjustments
Unrealized gains on securities:
Urealized holding gains arising
during the period
Changes in additional minimum
pension liability
Unrealized losses on derivatives

–

–

–

290

–

290

–

–

–

–

58

58

–

–

–

–

4

4

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
(6)

–
(6)

Comprehensive income

–

–

December 31, 2004

187

$

2

290
$ 1,030

$

989

$

56

346

65

$ 2,086

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
NCR Corporation (NCR or the Company) and its subsidiaries provide solutions worldwide that are designed specifically to
enable NCR’s customers to build, expand and enhance their relationships with their customers by facilitating transactions
and transforming data from transactions into useful business information.
NCR offers specific solutions for the retail and financial industries, and through its Data Warehousing and Customer
Services segments, NCR provides solutions for industries including telecommunications, transportation, insurance, utilities
and electronic commerce, as well as consumer goods manufacturers and government entities. These solutions are built on a
foundation of long-established industry knowledge and consulting expertise, a range of hardware technology, value-adding
software, global customer support services, and a complete line of business consumables.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of NCR and its majority-owned subsidiaries. Long-term
investments in affiliated companies in which NCR owns between 20% and 50%, and therefore exercises significant
influence, but which it does not control, are accounted for using the equity method. Investments in which NCR does not
exercise significant influence (generally, when NCR has an investment of less than 20% and no representation on the
company’s board of directors) are accounted for using the cost method. All significant inter-company transactions and
accounts have been eliminated.
In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46), “Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities,” which significantly changes the criteria used in determining whether entities are consolidated
within the financial statements. Under the new interpretation, the Company is required to determine whether it is the primary
beneficiary of economic income or losses that may be generated by variable interest entities (VIEs) in which the Company has
such an interest. In circumstances where the Company has determined it is the primary beneficiary, consolidation of that entity
is required. For the year ended December 31, 2003, FIN 46 is effective for variable interests created after January 31, 2003.
See the FIN 46 discussion below for the treatment of variable interests created on or before January 31, 2003.

USE OF ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (otherwise referred to as GAAP) requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements,
and revenues and expenses during the period reported. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
NCR’s revenue recognition policy is consistent with the requirements of Statement of Position 97-2 (SOP 97-2), “Software
Revenue Recognition,” Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104 (SAB 104), “Revenue Recognition,” Emerging Issues Task
Force Issue No. 00-21 (Issue 00-21), “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables,” and other applicable revenue
recognition guidance and interpretations. The Company records revenue when it is realized, or realizable, and earned.
The Company considers these requirements met when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the products or
services have been provided to the customer, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured.
Typically, NCR does not sell its software products without the related hardware. The majority of the Company’s solutions
contain software that is more than incidental to the hardware and services included in the arrangement. The Company’s
typical solution requires no significant production, modification or customization of the software or hardware after it is
shipped. For these arrangements, revenue is recognized upon shipment, delivery, installation or customer acceptance of the
product, as defined in the customer contract. Revenue for services-only contracts is typically recognized when the services
are complete or ratably over the period services are provided.
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As a solutions provider, the Company’s sales arrangements often include support services in addition to hardware and
software. These services could include hardware and software maintenance, customer support and professional consulting
services. Revenue for the Company’s arrangements that include multiple elements is allocated to each element based on
vendor specific objective evidence of the fair value of each element as defined in SOP 97-2. Allocated revenue for each
element is recognized when revenue recognition criteria have been met for each element. Vendor specific objective evidence
of fair value is determined based on the price charged when each element is sold separately. A portion of the revenue
contained in the “Other” segment (see Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for segment details) contains
hardware, embedded software and services elements only. For these transactions, the guidance in Issue 00-21 on multiple
deliverables is followed to determine if separate units of accounting exist and, if so, how the contractual consideration
should be allocated to the individual elements. The allocation of the arrangement fee to the various deliverables is based
upon the relative fair value of each of the deliverables.
NCR’s customers may request that certain transactions be on a bill and hold basis. For these transactions, the Company
recognizes revenue in accordance with SAB 104. Typically, the amount from bill and hold transactions makes up less than
1% of the total consolidated revenue.

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS
All short-term, highly liquid investments having original maturities of three months or less are considered to be cash
equivalents. Short-term investments include securities generally having maturities of 90 days to one year. The Company
had no short-term investments as of December 31, 2004. As of December 31, 2003, the Company held approximately
$50 million of short-term investments which consisted primarily of auction rate securities classified as available-for-sale
securities. The Company’s investment in these securities was recorded at cost, which approximates fair market value due
to their variable interest rates, which typically reset every 7 to 28 days, and despite the long-term nature of their stated
contractual maturities, the Company had the ability to quickly liquidate these securities. As a result, there were no cumulative
gross unrealized holding gains (losses) or gross realized gains (losses) from these short-term investments, and all income
generated from these short-term investments was recorded as interest income.
Revision in the Classification of Certain Securities In connection with the preparation of this report, the Company
concluded that it was appropriate to classify auction rate securities as short-term investments. Previously, such investments
had been classified as cash and cash equivalents. Accordingly, the Company has revised the classification to report these
securities as short-term investments as of December 31, 2003. The Company has revised the presentation of the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, to reflect the gross purchases and
sales of these securities as investing activities rather than as a component of cash and cash equivalents, which is consistent
with the presentation for the year ended December 31, 2004. This change in classification does not affect previously reported
cash flows from operations or from financing activities in the Company’s previously reported Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows, or previously reported results of operations for any period. The Company had no investments in auction rate
securities as of December 31, 2004. In the previously reported Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002, net cash used in investing activities related to these short-term investments of $10 million
and $40 million, respectively, were included in cash and cash equivalents.

TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
NCR offers its customers the option to acquire its products and services through payment plans, financing or leasing
contracts. From time to time, the Company has factored certain receivables, or transfers future payments under these
contracts, to financing institutions on a non-recourse basis. NCR may act as servicing agent for the purchaser and retain
collection and administrative responsibilities. These transfers are recorded as sales of the related accounts receivable when
NCR is considered to have surrendered control of such receivables. The Company had factored receivables of $3 million at
December 31, 2004, $11 million at December 31, 2003 and less than $1 million at December 31, 2002. The 2004 activity is
related to the factoring of promissory notes from customers in Japan. The related cost of the factoring was immaterial to the
Company’s consolidated financial results.

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS
NCR establishes provisions for doubtful accounts using both percentages of accounts receivable balance to reflect historical
average credit losses and specific provisions for known issues. Given this experience, NCR believes that the reserves for
potential losses are adequate, but if one or more of the Company’s larger customers were to default on its obligations under
applicable contractual arrangements, NCR could be exposed to potentially significant losses in excess of the provisions established.

INVENTORIES
Inventories are stated at the lower of average cost or market value. Excess and obsolete reserves are established based on
forecasted usage, orders, technological obsolescence and inventory aging.
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INVESTMENTS IN MARKETABLE SECURITIES
Typically, marketable securities, which are included in other assets, are deemed by management to be available-for-sale and
are reported at fair value with net unrealized gains or losses reported, net-of-tax, within stockholders’ equity. If a decline in
the fair value of a marketable security is deemed by management to be other than temporary, the cost basis of the investment
is written down to fair value, and the amount of the write-down is included in the determination of income. Realized gains
and losses are recorded based on the specific identification method and average cost method, as appropriate, based upon the
investment type.

LONG-LIVED ASSETS
Capitalized Software Certain direct development costs associated with internal-use software are capitalized within other
assets and are amortized over the estimated useful lives of the resulting software. NCR typically amortizes capitalized
internal-use software over three years beginning when the asset is substantially ready for use.
Costs incurred for the development of computer software that will be sold, leased or otherwise marketed are capitalized
when technological feasibility has been established. These costs are included within other assets and are amortized over the
estimated useful lives of the resulting software. The Company typically amortizes capitalized software over three years
beginning when the product is available for general release. Costs capitalized include direct labor and related overhead
costs. Costs incurred prior to technological feasibility and after general release are expensed as incurred.
Total capitalized software development costs, net of accumulated amortization, were $112 million, $103 million and
$103 million as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Amortization of capitalized software development costs
was $72 million, $70 million and $70 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Goodwill NCR adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 (SFAS 142), “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets,” on January 1, 2002. SFAS 142 requires the identification of reporting units, which NCR has deemed to be the
operating segments described in Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. Goodwill is allocated to the reporting
units for the purposes of goodwill impairment testing, which is performed at least annually. The impairment test is also
performed if an event occurs or when circumstances change between annual tests that would more likely than not reduce
the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value.
Upon adoption of SFAS 142, NCR discontinued the amortization of goodwill assets and recorded a non-cash, net-of-tax
goodwill impairment charge of $348 million as a cumulative effect of accounting change for the year ended December 31, 2002.
See Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.
Property, Plant and Equipment Property, plant and equipment, reworkable service parts and rental equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed over the estimated useful lives of the related assets primarily
on a straight-line basis. Buildings are depreciated over 25 to 45 years, machinery and other equipment over three to ten years
and reworkable service parts over three to six years. Reworkable service parts are those parts that can be reconditioned
and used in installation and ongoing maintenance services and integrated service solutions for NCR’s customers.
Property, Plant and Equipment Held for Sale Long-lived assets to be sold are classified as held for sale in the period
for which they meet the criteria outlined in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” Assets classified as held for sale are carried at the lower of their carrying
amount or fair value, and are not depreciated while classified as held for sale.
Valuation of Long-Lived Assets Long-lived assets such as property, plant and equipment, software and investments are
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when estimated future undiscounted cash flows expected to result
from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than the carrying amount.

WARRANTY, POST-SALES SUPPORT AND SALES RETURNS
Provisions for product warranties, post-sales support and sales returns and allowances are recorded in the period in which
the related revenue is recognized. The Company accrues warranty reserves and sales return and allowances using percentages
of revenue to reflect the Company’s historical average warranty and sales return claims.
In addition to the standard product warranty, the Company offers extended warranties to its customers. NCR considers
extended warranties to be no different than a normal service contract and therefore accounts for the extended warranty by
deferring revenue equal to the fair value of the warranty and recognizes the deferred revenue over the extended warranty term.
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PENSION, POSTRETIREMENT AND POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
NCR has significant pension, postretirement and postemployment benefit costs, which are developed from actuarial valuations.
Actuarial assumptions are established to anticipate future events and are used in calculating the expense and liability relating
to these plans. These factors include assumptions the Company makes about interest rates, expected investment return on
plan assets, rate of increase in health care costs, total and involuntary turnover rates, and rates of future compensation
increases. In addition, NCR’s actuarial consultants also use subjective factors such as withdrawal rates and mortality rates
to develop the Company’s valuations. NCR generally reviews and updates these assumptions on an annual basis. NCR is
required to consider current market conditions, including changes in interest rates, in making these assumptions. The
actuarial assumptions that NCR uses may differ materially from actual results due to changing market and economic
conditions, higher or lower withdrawal rates or longer or shorter life spans of participants. These differences may result
in a significant impact to the amount of pension, postretirement or postemployment benefits expense the Company has
recorded or may record.

FOREIGN CURRENCY
For many NCR international operations, the local currency is designated as the functional currency. Accordingly, assets and
liabilities are translated into U.S. Dollars at year-end exchange rates, and revenues and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates prevailing during the year. Currency translation adjustments from local functional currency countries resulting
from fluctuations in exchange rates are recorded in other comprehensive income.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
In the normal course of business, NCR enters into various financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments.
The Company accounts for derivative instruments in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133
(SFAS 133), “Accounting for Derivatives and Hedging Activities,” as amended. The standard requires the recognition of all
derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet at fair value and recognition of the resulting gains
or losses as adjustments to earnings or other comprehensive income. The Company formally documents all relationships
between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions. Hedging activities are transacted only with highly-rated institutions, reducing the exposure to
credit risk in the event of nonperformance.
The accounting for changes in fair value of a derivative instrument depends on whether it has been designated and qualifies
as part of a hedging relationship, and further, on the type of hedging relationship. For those derivative instruments that are
designated and qualify as hedging instruments, the Company has designated the hedging instrument, based on the exposure
being hedged, as either a fair value hedge, cash flow hedge, or a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation. For derivative
instruments designated as fair value hedges, the effective portion of the hedge is recorded as an offset to the change in the
fair value of the hedged item and the ineffective portion of the hedge, if any, is recorded in the income statement. For derivative
instruments designated as cash flow hedges and determined to be highly effective, the gains or losses are deferred in other
comprehensive income and recognized in the determination of income as adjustments of carrying amounts when the underlying
hedged transaction is realized, canceled or otherwise terminated. When hedging certain foreign currency transactions of a
long-term investment nature (net investments in foreign operations), gains and losses are recorded in the currency translation
adjustment component of stockholders’ equity. Gains and losses on foreign exchange contracts that are not used to hedge
currency transactions of a long-term investment nature, or that are not designated as cash flow or fair value hedges, are
recognized in other income or expense as exchange rates change.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND LEGAL CONTINGENCIES
In the normal course of business, NCR is subject to various regulations, proceedings, lawsuits, claims and other matters,
including actions under laws and regulations related to the environment and health and safety, among others. NCR believes
the amounts provided in its consolidated financial statements, as prescribed by GAAP, are adequate in light of the probable
and estimable liabilities. However, there can be no assurances that the actual amounts required to satisfy alleged liabilities
from various lawsuits, claims, legal proceedings and other matters, including the Fox River environmental matter discussed
below in Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, and to comply with applicable laws and regulations, will
not exceed the amounts reflected in NCR’s consolidated financial statements or will not have a material adverse effect on the
consolidated results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. Any costs that may be incurred in excess of those
amounts provided as of December 31, 2004, cannot currently be reasonably determined.

NCR04

>

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

> 35

INCOME TAXES
Income tax expense is provided based on income before income taxes. Deferred income taxes reflect the impact of temporary
differences between assets and liabilities recognized for financial reporting purposes and such amounts recognized for tax
purposes. These deferred taxes are determined based on the enacted tax rates expected to apply in the periods in which the
deferred assets or liabilities are expected to be settled or realized. NCR records valuation allowances related to its deferred
income tax assets when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during
the reported period. The calculation of diluted earnings per share is similar to basic earnings per share, except that the
weighted average number of shares outstanding includes the dilution from potential common stock, such as stock options
and restricted stock awards. Please refer to Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for share information on
NCR’s stock compensation plans.

RECLASSIFICATIONS
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 2004 presentation. Please refer to Note 7 to the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements regarding revisions to the presentation of certain tax-related accounts in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets to be consistent with the 2004 presentation. Also, please refer to the description under Revision in the
Classification of Certain Securities found earlier in this Note 1 regarding revisions to the presentation of certain investments
in the consolidated financial statements.

STOCK COMPENSATION
NCR accounts for its stock-based employee compensation plans using the intrinsic value-based method in accordance with
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 (APB No. 25), which requires compensation expense to be recognized when
the market price of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price on the date of grant. In addition, no compensation
expense is recorded for purchases under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) in accordance with APB No. 25. If NCR
recognized stock-based compensation expense based on the fair value of stock option grants, restricted stock grants, and
employee stock purchases under the ESPP at the grant date, net income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively, would have been as follows:
Years ended December 31

2003

2004

2002

In millions, except for per share data

Net income (loss)

$

Stock-based employee compensation expense included
in reported net income (loss) (pre-tax)
Tax (benefit) expense of stock-based employee compensation
included in reported net income (loss)
Subtotal: Add to net income (loss)
Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined
under fair value-based method for awards (pre-tax)
Tax (benefit) expense of stock-based employee compensation
determined under fair value-based method for awards
Subtotal: Deduct from net income (loss)
Pro forma net income (loss)
Basic net income (loss) per share:
As reported:
Pro forma:
Diluted net income (loss) per share:
As reported:
Pro forma:

290

$

58

$

(220)

5

4

5

(1)

(1)

(1)

4

3

4

33

43

73

(6)

11

(15)

27

54

58

$

267

$

7

$

(274)

$
$

1.55
1.42

$
$

0.31
0.04

$
$

(1.13)
(1.40)

$
$

1.51
1.39

$
$

0.30
0.04

$
$

(1.10)
(1.37)

Per share amounts reflect a two-for-one stock split effective on January 21, 2005.

The pro forma amounts calculated are not necessarily indicative of the effects on net income and net income per diluted
share in future years. The pro forma net income (loss) and net income (loss) per diluted share for all periods presented were
computed using the fair value of options as calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing method (Black-Scholes).
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Departures of certain senior executives in 2003 caused an unusually high amount of expirations of stock options. The effect
of these events on the pro forma expense for the year ended December 31, 2003 was the recognition of a significant amount
of pro forma tax expense from the write-off of pro forma deferred tax assets. These deferred tax assets would have been
recorded as the options were vesting if NCR accounted for stock compensation in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123 (SFAS 123), “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” The pro forma tax expense for the
year ended December 31, 2003 is unusually higher than other periods because of these events.
When computing the pro forma SFAS 123 expense, NCR uses Black-Scholes to determine the fair value of employee stock
options. Black-Scholes requires the use of judgmental assumptions in which the Company uses historical amounts as the
basis for the assumptions. These historical amounts may not be reflective of actual amounts in the future.
The following weighted average assumptions were used to calculate the fair value of stock option grants using Black-Scholes
for the periods shown in the above table:
2004

Dividend yield
Risk-free interest rate
Expected volatility
Expected holding period (years)

–
2.99%
45.00%
5.0

2003

2002

–
3.08%
45.00%
5.0

–
3.92%
45.00%
5.0

The weighted average fair value of NCR stock options calculated using Black-Scholes for options granted during the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, was $9.76, $5.11 and $7.42 per share, respectively, on a post stock-split basis.
On April 23, 2003, NCR’s stockholders approved a non-binding measure for the Company to establish a policy to expense
stock options issued by the Company in its annual consolidated statements of operations. The Company has been evaluating
the implementation alternatives under the newly revised Statement of Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004). The
Company expects to adopt the new standard starting on July 1, 2005. Please refer to the Recently Issued Accounting
Pronouncements below under this Note 1 for more information.
Please refer to Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on NCR’s stock compensation plans.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
FASB Interpretation No. 46 In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46), “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities,” an Interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 51, “Consolidated Financial
Statements.” FIN 46 requires certain variable interest entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if
the equity investors in the entity do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or the entity does not have
sufficient equity at risk. Also, FIN 46 requires disclosure of significant variable interests in variable interest entities in
which a company is not required to consolidate. In December 2003, the FASB revised FIN 46 for certain implementation
provisions and extended the effective date of the pronouncement to the first quarter of 2004. As a result, the Company adopted
the revised guidance on January 1, 2004. Management evaluated the revised provisions of FIN 46 and determined that the
adoption of this pronouncement did not have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations, financial position or
cash flows.
Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue 03-6 In March 2004, the EITF ratified the consensus on EITF Issue 03-6,
“Participating Securities and the Two-Class Method under FASB Statement No. 128.” The consensus requires the use of a
two-class method of calculating earnings per share under FASB Statement No. 128, “Earnings Per Share,” when a company
has participating securities. A participating security is defined as a security that may participate in undistributed earnings
with common stock, whether that participation is conditioned upon the occurrence of a specified event or not. NCR does not
currently have any participating securities, and although this guidance was adopted in the second quarter of 2004, it did not
have any impact on the Company’s results of operations.
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Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004) In December 2004, the FASB issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004) (SFAS 123(R)), “Share-Based Payment.” SFAS 123(R)
requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial
statements based on their fair values. SFAS 123(R) eliminates the ability to account for share-based compensation using the
intrinsic value-based method under APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” Currently, the
Company discloses the pro forma net income (loss) and related pro forma income (loss) per share information in accordance
with SFAS No 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” SFAS 123(R) must be adopted no later than July 1, 2005.
The Company expects to adopt, effective on July 1, 2005, the Modified Prospective Method with no restatement of interim
periods prior to the effective date. The adoption of SFAS 123(R) fair value method will have a significant impact on our
results of operations, although it will not impact our overall financial position. While the expense impact cannot be precisely
estimated at this time, based on the guidelines for the 2005 long-term incentive compensation plan recently approved by the
Compensation Committee, the Company believes its stock compensation expense for 2005 to be in the range of 5 to 6 cents
per share. This estimate is subject to change and is based on the following assumptions: (1) continued use of the Black-Scholes
valuation model, (2) the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan will be considered non-compensatory under applicable
tax laws and regulations, (3) the Company’s effective tax rate is 25%, and (4) the Company implements SFAS 123(R)
mid-year as currently planned. On an annualized basis, the Company expects its expense to be 9 to 10 cents per share in
2006 and 10 to 12 cents per share in outer years utilizing the same assumptions previously mentioned. The Company is
evaluating the use of a binomial valuation model at this time and is unable to predict the impact on the Company’s stock
compensation expenses, either positive or negative, created by a change in valuation model. The Company is also unable
to predict the impact of deferred tax assets on the tax rate applied to our pre-tax stock compensation expense. SFAS 123(R)
also requires the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash
flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as required under current accounting literature. This requirement will reduce
net operating cash flows and increase net financing cash flows in periods after adoption. The Company cannot estimate what
those amounts will be in the future because they depend on, among other things, favorable tax versus book differences in
option expense.
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 151 In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 151 (SFAS 151), “Inventory Costs – an amendment of ARB No. 43.” SFAS 151 requires idle
facility expenses, freight, handling costs, and wasted material spoilage costs to be recognized as current-period charges.
It also requires that allocation of fixed production overheads to the costs of conversion be based on normal capacity of the
production facilities. SFAS 151 will be effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005.
The Company does not expect that this standard will have a material impact on our results of operations.
FASB Staff Position No. FAS 109-1 and No. FAS 109-2 The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, enacted on
October 22, 2004, provides a temporary 85% dividends received deduction for certain repatriated earnings, subject to certain
limitations. The Company has evaluated the effects of the repatriation provision and determined that the potential benefits
offset by the limitations and associated costs are immaterial. The Company has determined not to repatriate foreign earnings
under the new law’s dividends received deduction. Additionally, this Act has other issues, including the establishment of a
deduction for certain qualified domestic production activities. The Company evaluated this deduction and determined the
effects to be negligible.
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NOTE 2 SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
For the year ended December 31

2003

2004

2002

In millions

Other (income) expense

Interest income
Other (gain) loss on assets, net
Fox River provision (see Note 11)
Other, net

$

Other (income) expense, net
Interest expense

(10)
(17)
–
(14)

$

(9)
–
37
4
32
26

(41)
23

Total interest and other (income) expense, net

$

(18)

$

$

At December 31

58

(10)
50
–
(1)
39
19

$

58
2003

2004

In millions

Accounts receivable

Trade
Other

$ 1,291
37

Accounts receivable, gross
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts

$

1,257
27

1,328
24

Total accounts receivable, net

1,225
32

$ 1,304

$

1,230

Finished goods, net
Work in process and raw materials, net

$

258
97

$

233
75

Total inventories, net

$

355

$

308

Current deferred tax assets
Other

$

96
128

$

86
109

Total other current assets

$

224

$

195

Reworkable service parts and rental equipment, gross
Less: accumulated depreciation

$

464
240

$

490
258

Total reworkable service parts and rental equipment, net

$

224

$

232

$

80
434
1,008

$

92
516
1,002

Inventories

Other current assets

Reworkable service parts and rental equipment

Property, plant and equipment

Land and improvements
Buildings and improvements
Machinery and other equipment
Property, plant and equipment, gross
Less: accumulated depreciation
Property, plant and equipment held for sale, net
Total property, plant and equipment, net

1,522
1,092

1,610
1,114

430
16

496
18

$

446

$

514

Currency translation adjustments
Unrealized gain on securities
Unrealized loss on derivatives
Additional minimum pension liability1

$

156
11
(15)
(87)

$

98
7
(9)
(87)

Total accumulated other comprehensive income

$

65

$

9

Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax

1

See Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for details on the change in additional minimum pension liability.
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NOTE 3 RESTRUCTURING AND REAL ESTATE TRANSACTIONS
In the third quarter of 2002, NCR announced re-engineering plans to improve operational efficiency throughout the
Company. The Company is targeting process improvements to drive simplification, standardization, globalization and
consistency across the organization. Key business processes and supporting functions are being re-engineered to improve
efficiency and lower costs and expenses. Management is taking action to shorten the Company’s product and service offer
development cycles and to improve its sales and order management processes. To improve accounts receivables collections
and cash flow, management implemented plans to drive efficiencies for the Company’s invoicing and collection activities.
During the fourth quarter of 2002, in connection with announced restructuring efforts, NCR’s management approved a
real estate consolidation and restructuring plan designed to accelerate the Company’s re-engineering strategies. A pre-tax
restructuring charge of $8 million was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2002 under EITF Issue No. 94-3, “Liability
Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity,” to provide for contractual lease
termination costs. The balance of this recorded liability at December 31, 2004 was $3 million. During 2004, the Company
utilized $4 million of the reserve. The majority of the lease obligations will continue through 2005, with one remaining
obligation continuing to 2009.
During 2004, the Company recognized $14 million (after-tax) in net income from the sale of real estate that was previously
classified as held for sale. The net book value of the properties was $48 million. One of these properties has a note receivable
bearing interest at 5% with nominal principal payments before a balloon payment of $5 million in 2007.
The Company also recognized $8 million (after-tax) of other income for the release of a reserve for exit of certain countries
in the Middle East and Africa region. The reserve was previously made to account for an expected loss on sale when the
Company anticipated exiting certain countries. However, due to a strategy realignment, the Company now believes it can
profitably market an attractive range of products to these countries by utilizing a shared resource infrastructure.

NOTE 4 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS, DIVESTITURES AND EQUITY INVESTMENTS
The Company acquired Kinetics, Inc. (Kinetics) on September 30, 2004. Kinetics, headquartered in Lake Mary, Florida,
is a leading provider of self-service solutions for the travel industry. This acquisition further strengthens NCR’s portfolio of
self-service technologies enabling the Company to extend its market reach and leadership to additional market segments like
airline and hotel check-in, quick-service food ordering and event ticketing. This cash transaction was accounted for as a
purchase. Approximately $8 million of the $26 million purchase price was allocated to software development costs, and the
Company recorded goodwill of approximately $18 million, which was allocated to the Retail Store Automation operating
segment. The $26 million cash payment made to complete this acquisition is reported in Other investing activities in the
Company’s Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as of December 31, 2004. The operating results of Kinetics were included
in the Company’s consolidated financial statements from September 30, 2004 forward. The pro forma disclosures required under
FASB Statement No. 141, “Business Combinations,” are not being provided because the impact of the transaction is not material.
During 2003 and 2002, NCR had no significant acquisition or divestiture activity that materially impacted the consolidated
statement of income, balance sheet or cash flows. Also, in 2004, 2003 and 2002, NCR completed other investments and sold
assets related to portions of its businesses to third parties, all of which were insignificant.

NOTE 5 LONG-LIVED ASSETS
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT HELD FOR SALE
Property, plant and equipment held for sale, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment charges, consists of the following
categories as of December 31 for the periods shown in the table below:
2003

2004
In millions

Land and improvements, net
Buildings and improvements, net

$

2
14

$

6
12

Property, plant and equipment held for sale, net

$

16

$

18

GOODWILL
As a result of the adoption of SFAS 142 on January 1, 2002, NCR discontinued the amortization of goodwill and it was
determined that the goodwill of the Retail Store Automation, Systemedia, and “Other” segments was impaired. The Company
recorded a non-cash, net-of-tax goodwill impairment charge of $348 million as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle as of January 1, 2002. The impairment charge was reflected as a cumulative effect of accounting change, net of
tax, in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2002.
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The carrying amounts of goodwill by operating segment for the year ended December 31, 2004 were as follows:
Beginning Balance
January 1, 2004

Ending Balance
Other December 31,
Adjustments
2004

Additions

In millions

Goodwill

Data Warehousing
Financial Self Service
Retail Store Automation
Systemedia
Payment and Imaging
Customer Services
Other
Total goodwill

$

79
15
–
–
3
8
–

$

–
–
18
–
–
–
–

$

1
–
–
–
–
–
–

$

80
15
18
–
3
8
–

$

105

$

18

$

1

$

124

The increase in goodwill since December 31, 2003, is due to foreign currency fluctuations and the acquisition of Kinetics.
In the fourth quarter of 2004, in accordance with SFAS 142, NCR performed its annual impairment test using the same
methodology used for the transitional test performed in 2002 and no further goodwill impairment losses were realized.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
NCR’s other intangible assets, which were specifically identified when acquired, are deemed to have finite lives and
are being amortized over original periods ranging from three to ten years. The gross carrying amount and accumulated
amortization for NCR’s other intangible assets were as follows:
December 31, 2003

December 31, 2004
Gross Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

In millions

Other intangible assets

Patents
Intellectual property

$

14
28

$

(12)
(7)

$

19
13

$

(15)
(5)

Total other intangible assets

$

42

$

(19)

$

32

$

(20)

The decrease in patents since December 31, 2003 is due to a patent becoming fully amortized in the first quarter of 2004;
therefore, it is no longer listed in the table above. The increase in the intellectual property since December 31, 2003 is
primarily due to the purchase of intellectual property licenses from Accenture as part of our long-term service agreement and
intellectual property associated with the acquisition of Kinetics.
The aggregate amortization expense (actual and estimated, in millions) for other intangible assets for the following periods is:
For the year (estimated)

For the year ended
December 31,
2004

Amortization expense

$

5

December 31,
2005

$

6

December 31,
2006

$

5

December 31,
2007

$

4

December 31,
2008

$

4

December 31,
2009

$

2

NOTE 6 DEBT OBLIGATIONS
In June 2002, the Company issued $300 million of senior unsecured notes with an interest rate of 7.125% due in 2009.
The net proceeds from the issuance totaled $296 million, after discount and expenses, and were used to repay short-term
debt with the remainder available for general corporate purposes. In the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company entered into
an interest rate swap which effectively converted $50 million of the notes to floating rate debt. See Note 10 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for further details of the interest rate swap.
The most significant portion of the Company’s other long-term debt consists of notes payable originating in the United States
with maturities of $0.6 million in 2010 and $5 million in 2020 with rates of 9.4% and 9.49%, respectively.
In October 2004, the Company replaced a $200 million 364-day unsecured credit facility with a $200 million five-year
unsecured credit facility with a syndicate of financial institutions. In addition to the $200 million facility, the Company has
a $400 million, five-year unsecured revolving credit facility which the Company entered into in October 2001. The credit
facilities contain certain representations and warranties; conditions; affirmative, negative and financial covenants; and
events of default customary for such facilities. Interest rates charged on borrowings outstanding under the credit facilities
are based on prevailing market rates. No amounts were outstanding under the facilities at December 31, 2004 and 2003.
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NOTE 7 INCOME TAXES
For the years ended December 31, income before income taxes consisted of the following:

2003

2004

2002

In millions

Income (loss) before income taxes and
cumulative effect of accounting change

United States
Foreign

$

101
150

$

98
(26)

$

284
(153)

Total income before income taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change

$

251

$

72

$

131

For the years ended December 31, income tax (benefit) expense consisted of the following:

2003

2004

2002

In millions

Income tax (benefit) expense
Current

Federal
State and local
Foreign

$

3
(1)
58

$

(39)
3
37

$

(2)
4
28

Deferred

Federal
State and local
Foreign

(55)
5
63

(80)
–
(19)

Total income tax (benefit) expense

$

(39)

$

14

(13)
(1)
(13)
$

3

The following table presents the principal components of the difference between the effective tax rate and the U.S. federal
statutory income tax rate for the years ended December 31:
2004
2003
2002
In millions

Income tax expense at the U.S. federal tax rate of 35%
Foreign income tax differential
U.S. permanent book/tax differences
Tax contingencies
Other, net

$

88
(56)
(3)
(66)
(2)

$

25
(10)
3
(6)
2

$

46
(30)
1
(15)
1

Total income tax (benefit) expense

$

(39)

$

14

$

3

NCR’s tax provisions include a provision for income taxes in those tax jurisdictions where its subsidiaries are profitable,
but reflect only a portion of the tax benefits related to certain foreign subsidiaries’ tax losses due to the uncertainty of the
ultimate realization of future benefits from these losses. In 2004, the Company realized an $85 million income tax benefit
resulting from the favorable settlement of audit issues relating to the period when NCR was a subsidiary of AT&T.
Included in the balance sheets at December 31 were as follows:

2003

2004

In millions

Deferred income tax assets

Employee pensions and other benefits
Other balance sheet reserves and allowances
Tax loss and credit carryforwards
Capitalized research and development
Property, plant and equipment
Other

$

Total deferred income tax assets
Valuation allowance

28
136
856
224
15
41

$

1,129
(546)

1,300
(585)

Net deferred income tax assets

51
115
655
191
52
65

715

583

Property, plant and equipment
Employee pensions and other benefits
Other

25
353
31

25
302
7

Total deferred income tax liabilities

409

334

Deferred income tax liabilities

Total net deferred income tax assets
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306

$

249

In the December 31, 2003 Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Company has revised the presentation of certain non-current
deferred income tax assets and liabilities that were previously presented in separate captions. This revision of presentation
reduces the previously presented captions, Deferred income taxes (within non-current assets) and Income taxes (within
non-current liabilities), by $283 million each. This presentation is consistent with the 2004 presentation.
NCR recorded valuation allowances related to certain deferred income tax assets due to the uncertainty of the ultimate
realization of future benefits from those assets. The valuation allowance covers deferred tax assets, primarily tax loss
carryforwards, in tax jurisdictions where there is uncertainty as to the ultimate realization of a benefit from those tax losses.
As of December 31, 2004, NCR had U.S. federal and foreign tax loss carryforwards of approximately $1,269 million. The tax
loss carryforwards subject to expiration expire in the years 2005 through 2022.
NCR did not provide for U.S. federal income taxes or foreign withholding taxes on approximately $682 million and $539 million
of undistributed earnings of its foreign subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, because such earnings
are intended to be reinvested indefinitely.
The income tax (benefit) expense related to other comprehensive income for 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $(10) million,
$345 million and $(247) million, respectively.

NOTE 8 EMPLOYEE STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS
The NCR Management Stock Plan provides for the grant of several different forms of stock-based benefits, including stock
options, relating to shares of NCR common stock. Stock options are generally granted at the fair market value of the common
stock at the date of grant, generally have a ten-year term and vest within three years of the grant date. Grants that were
issued before 1998 generally had a four-year vesting period and, going forward, for 2005, will also have a four-year vesting
period. Options to purchase common stock may be granted under the authority of the Board of Directors. Option terms as
determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors will not exceed ten years, as consistent with the
Internal Revenue Code. The plan was adopted by the Board of Directors, with stockholder approval, effective January 1, 1997.
The plan contains an evergreen provision that initially authorized and made available for grant 5.6% of the outstanding shares
as of January 1, 1997, as well as sufficient shares to replace all outstanding awards held by active NCR employees for
shares of AT&T stock. Thereafter, the number of shares authorized under the plan increases each calendar year by 4% of
the outstanding shares on the first day of the year for the ten-year term of the plan without the need for additional Board
approval. The number of shares of common stock authorized and available for grant under this plan was approximately 66 million
and 49 million, respectively, at December 31, 2004 and 2003. However, the number of options granted has steadily declined
as a percentage of the numbers of outstanding shares. In 2004, the number of options granted was approximately 1% of total
outstanding shares.
Please refer to Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the expense impact and option valuation information
of the Company’s stock compensation plans.
A summary of stock option activity under the NCR Management Stock Plan is as follows:
2003

2004
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Shares
Under
Option

2002
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Shares
Under
Option

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Shares
Under
Option

Shares in thousands

Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Canceled
Forfeited
Outstanding at end of year

27,612
2,325
(13,181)
(65)
52
16,743

18.17
22.66
18.38
15.95
19.20

32,752
3,698
(1,052)
(1,812)
(5,974)

$
$
$
$
$

19.11
11.58
15.35
17.79
19.99

31,038
4,842
(1,044)
(1,312)
(772)

$
$
$
$
$

19.44
16.58
16.63
20.01
18.71

$ 18.71

27,612

$

18.17

32,752

$

19.11

$
$
$
$
$

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2004:

Range of Exercise Prices

Stock Options Outstanding
Weighted
Weighted
Average
Average
Exercise
Remaining
Price
Shares Contractual Life

Stock Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Shares
Price

Shares in thousands

$8.76 to $14.54
$15.13 to $25.82

3,705
13,038

Total

16,743

8.07 years
5.75 years
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11.98
20.62

1,298
10,248

$

12.29
20.25

$

18.71

11,546

$

19.35
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There were approximately 20.6 million stock options exercisable with a weighted average exercise price of $19.08 at
December 31, 2003. At December 31, 2002, there were approximately 22.2 million stock options exercisable with a weighted
average exercise price of $19.10.
The NCR Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) enables eligible employees to purchase NCR’s common stock at 85% of the
average market price at the end of the last trading day of each month. Employees may authorize payroll deductions up to
10% of eligible compensation for common stock purchases. During 2004, 2003 and 2002, employees purchased approximately
1.0 million, 1.8 million and 1.6 million shares, respectively, of NCR common stock for approximately $19 million, $19 million
and $22 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2004, the number of shares authorized and the number of shares available
for grant under this plan were approximately 16 million and 2.8 million, respectively.

NOTE 9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT PLANS
NCR sponsors defined benefit plans for the majority of its U.S. employees and international employees. For salaried employees,
the defined benefit plans are based primarily upon compensation and years of service. For certain hourly employees in the
United States, the benefits are based on a fixed dollar amount per year of service. During 2004, NCR made changes to its
U.S. defined benefit pension plans in order to limit participation in the plans to U.S. based employees who were at least 40 years
old and hired by August 31, 2004. The plans are closed to new participants as of September 1, 2004. NCR’s funding policy
is to contribute annually not less than the minimum required by applicable laws and regulations. Assets of NCR’s defined
benefit plans are primarily invested in publicly traded common stocks, corporate and government debt securities, real estate
investments and cash or cash equivalents.
Prior to September 1998, substantially all U.S. employees who reached retirement age while working for NCR were eligible
to participate in a postretirement benefit plan. The plan provides medical care and life insurance benefits to retirees and
their eligible dependents. In September 1998, the plan was amended whereby U.S. participants who had not reached a certain
age and years of service with NCR were no longer eligible for such benefits. In September 2003, the plan was amended to
eliminate the postretirement life insurance benefit for both active and non-active employees. In December 2003, the
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 became law in the United States. This new law
will not have any material impact on NCR’s postretirement plan liabilities or expense as the Company does not provide
prescription drug benefits to its Medicare-eligible retirees. Non-U.S. employees are typically covered under governmentsponsored programs, and NCR generally does not provide postretirement benefits other than pensions to non-U.S. retirees.
NCR generally funds these benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis.
NCR uses a December 31 measurement date for all of its plans.

PENSION PLANS
Reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the benefit obligations for NCR’s pension plans were:
U.S. Pension Benefits
2004
2003

International Pension Benefits
2004
2003

Total Pension Benefits
2004
2003

In millions

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at January 1
Gross service cost
Interest cost
Amendments
Actuarial loss
Benefits paid
Curtailment
Currency translation adjustments

$ 2,960
47
180
–
181
(166)
(8)
–

$

2,700
48
179
–
194
(161)
–
–

$ 1,635
45
85
1
142
(106)
(1)
138

$

1,380
43
77
4
26
(93)
–
198

$ 4,595
92
265
1
323
(272)
(9)
138

$

4,080
91
256
4
220
(254)
–
198

Benefit obligation at December 31

$ 3,194

$

2,960

$ 1,939

$

1,635

$ 5,133

$

4,595

Accumulated benefit obligation
as of December 31

$ 3,088

$

2,841

$ 1,819

$

1,534

$ 4,907

$

4,375
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the fair value of the plan assets of NCR’s pension plans follows:
U.S. Pension Benefits
2004
2003

International Pension Benefits
2004
2003

Total Pension Benefits
2004
2003

In millions

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets
at January 1
Actual return on plan assets
Company contributions
Benefits paid
Currency translation adjustments
Other

$ 2,797
376
9
(166)
–
–

$

2,208
741
9
(161)
–
–

$ 1,397
141
102
(106)
121
3

$

1,138
129
61
(93)
159
3

$ 4,194
517
111
(272)
121
3

$

3,346
870
70
(254)
159
3

Fair value of plan assets
at December 31

$ 3,016

$

2,797

$ 1,658

$

1,397

$ 4,674

$

4,194

Accrued pension and benefit assets (liabilities) included in NCR’s consolidated balance sheets at December 31 were:
U.S. Pension Benefits
2004
2003

International Pension Benefits
2004
2003

Total Pension Benefits
2004
2003

In millions

Reconciliation to balance sheet

Funded status
Unrecognized net loss
Unrecognized prior service
cost (benefit)
Unrecognized translation asset

$

Net amount recognized

$

311

$

385

$

Prepaid benefit cost
Accrued benefit liability
Intangible asset
Accumulated other comprehensive
income

$

397
(109)
–

$

468
(103)
–

$ 1,044
(405)
3

Net amount recognized

$

(178)
489

$

(163)
549

$

(281)
977

2
(3)

1
(1)

$

$

$

(459)
1,466

(401)
1,369

26
1

25
–

$

609

$ 1,032

$

994

$

906
(375)
2

$ 1,441
(514)
3

$

1,374
(478)
2

24
1
721

(238)
820

28
(2)

Total recognized amounts
consist of:

20

23
311

$

385

79
$

721

$

76

102

609

$ 1,032

96
$

994

For pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets, the projected benefit obligation, accumulated
benefit obligation and fair value of assets were $654 million, $601 million and $92 million, respectively, at December 31, 2004,
and $625 million, $574 million and $101 million, respectively, at December 31, 2003.
The net periodic benefit cost (income) of the pension plans for years ended December 31 was as follows:
U.S. Pension Benefits
2004
2003
2002

International Pension Benefits
2004
2003
2002

Total Pension Benefits
2004
2003
2002

In millions

Net service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on
plan assets
Settlement charge
Curtailment charge
Amortization of:
Transition asset
Prior service cost
Actuarial loss

$ 47
180

$ 48
179

$ 43
175

(207)
–
1

(200)
–
–

(288)
–
–

(2)
–
64

(2)
5
55

(2)
10
1

Net benefit cost (income)

$ 83

$ 85

$ (61)

$ 40
77

$ 33
68

(131)
11
–

(128)
1
3

–
5
42

–
5
18

–
7
3

$ 52

$ 20

$ (13)

$ 42
85
(128)
6
–
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$ 88
256

$ 76
243

(335)
6
1

(331)
11
–

(416)
1
3

(2)
5
106

(2)
10
73

(2)
17
4

$ 105

$ (74)

$ 89
265

$ 135
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The weighted average rates and assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31 were as follows:
U.S. Pension Benefits
2004
2003

Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase

5.8%
4.2%

6.3%
4.2%

International Pension Benefits
2004
2003

4.7%
3.3%

Total Pension Benefits
2004
2003

5.2%
3.4%

5.4%
3.9%

5.9%
3.9%

The weighted average rates and assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for years ended December 31 were
as follows:
U.S. Pension Benefits
2004
2003
2002

Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase

6.3%
8.5%
4.2%

6.8%
8.5%
4.4%

7.3%
10.0%
4.4%

International Pension Benefits
2004
2003
2002

5.2%
7.3%
3.4%

5.6%
8.1%
3.7%

6.0%
8.9%
3.6%

Total Pension Benefits
2004
2003
2002

5.9%
8.1%
3.9%

6.4%
8.4%
4.2%

6.9%
9.7%
4.2%

NCR employs a building block approach as its primary approach in determining the long-term expected rate of return
assumption for plan assets. Historical market returns are studied and long-term relationships between equities and fixed
income are preserved consistent with the widely accepted capital market principle that assets with higher volatility generate
a higher return over the long run. Current market factors such as inflation and interest rates are evaluated before long-term
capital market assumptions are determined. The expected long-term portfolio return is established for each plan via a building
block approach with proper rebalancing consideration. The result is then adjusted to reflect additional expected return from
active management net of plan expenses. Historical plan returns, the expectations of other capital market participants, and
peer data are all used to review and check the results for reasonableness and appropriateness.

PLAN ASSETS
The weighted average asset allocations at December 31, 2004 and 2003 by asset category are as follows:
U.S. Pension Fund
Actual Allocation
of Plan Assets
Target
at December 31
Asset
2004
2003
Allocation

Equity securities
Debt securities
Real estate
Other
Total

73%
19%
8%
0%

73%
19%
8%
0%

100%

100%

68-75%
18-22%
7-9%
0-1%

International Pension Funds
Actual Allocation
of Plan Assets
Target
at December 31
Asset
2004
2003
Allocation

64%
29%
6%
1%

64%
28%
7%
1%

100%

100%

60-71%
23-35%
4-7%
0-1%

INVESTMENT STRATEGY
NCR employs a total return investment approach whereby a mix of equities, fixed-income, and real estate investments are
used to maximize the long-term return of plan assets subject to a prudent level of risk. The risk tolerance is established for
each plan through a careful consideration of plan liabilities, plan funded status, and corporate financial condition. The
investment portfolios contain a diversified blend of equity and fixed-income investments. Furthermore, equity investments
are diversified across U.S. and non-U.S. stocks, small and large capitalization stocks, and growth and value stocks. Fixed-income
assets are also diversified across U.S. and non-U.S. issuers, type of fixed-income security (i.e., government bond, corporate
bonds, mortgage-backed securities), and credit quality. Where applicable, real estate investments are made through real
estate securities, partnership interests, or direct investment and are diversified by property type and location. Other assets
such as cash or private equity are used judiciously to improve portfolio diversification and enhance risk adjusted portfolio
returns. Derivatives may be used to adjust market exposures in an efficient and timely manner. Cash held by fund managers
due to the timing of security purchases and sales is classified in the same asset category as the related investment. Rebalancing
algorithms are applied to keep the asset mix of the plans from deviating excessively from their targets. Investment risk is
measured and monitored on an ongoing basis through regular performance reporting, investment manager reviews, actuarial
liability measurements, and periodic investment strategy reviews.
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POSTRETIREMENT PLANS
Reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the benefit obligation for NCR’s U.S. postretirement plan were:
Postretirement Benefits
2003

2004
In millions

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at January 1
Gross service cost
Interest cost
Amendments
Actuarial loss
Benefits paid
Curtailment

$

187
–
11
(7)
33
(37)
–

$

347
–
20
(143)
8
(41)
(4)

Benefit obligation at December 31

$

187

$

187

Accrued postretirement liabilities included in NCR’s consolidated balance sheet at December 31 were:
Postretirement Benefits
2003

2004
In millions

Reconciliation to balance sheet

Funded status
Unrecognized net loss
Unrecognized prior service benefit

$

(187)
99
(151)

$

(187)
70
(156)

Net amount recognized

$

(239)

$

(273)

The net periodic benefit cost of the postretirement plan for the years ended December 31 were:
Postretirement Benefits
2003

2004

2002

In millions

Interest cost
Net service cost
Expected return on plan assets
Curtailment charge (credit)
Amortization of:
Prior service cost
Actuarial loss

$

Net benefit cost

$

11
–
–
–

$

$

24
–
–
–

(6)
6

(13)
5
3

20
–
–
(12)

$

(9)
1

8

$

16

The assumptions utilized in accounting for the postretirement plan for the years ended December 31 were:
Postretirement Benefits
2004

Discount rate

5.3%

Assumed health care cost trend rates at December 31 were:

2004
Pre-65 Post-65
Coverage Coverage

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to
decline (the ultimate trend rate)
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate rate

9.0%

6.0%

5.0% 5.0%
2009
2009

2003

2002

6.3%

6.8%

2003
Pre-65
Post-65
Coverage Coverage

10.0%

6.0%

5.0%
5.0%
2009
2009

In addition, a one percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effect on the
postretirement benefit costs and obligation:
1% Increase

1% Decrease

In millions

2004 service cost and interest cost
Postretirement benefits obligation at December 31, 2004

$
$
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CASH FLOWS RELATED TO EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Contributions NCR does not expect to contribute to its U.S. qualified pension plan in 2005; however, the Company plans
to contribute approximately $124 million and $8 million to its international pension plan and executive pension plans,
respectively, in 2005. It also expects contributions of $25 million to its U.S. postretirement plan in 2005.
Estimated Future Benefit Payment NCR expects to make the following benefit payments reflecting past and future
service from its pension and postretirement plans:
U.S.
Pension
Benefits

International
Pension
Benefits

Total
Pension
Benefits

Postretirement
Benefits

In millions

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010-2014

$
$
$
$
$
$

178
183
188
194
200
1,084

$
$
$
$
$
$

102
99
103
113
113
549

$
$
$
$
$
$

280
282
291
307
313
1,633

$
$
$
$
$
$

25
25
24
21
19
71

Savings Plans U.S. employees and many international employees participate in defined contribution savings plans. These
plans generally provide either a specified percent of pay or a matching contribution on participating employees’ voluntary
elections. NCR’s matching contributions typically are subject to a maximum percentage or level of compensation. Employee
contributions can be made pre-tax, after-tax or a combination thereof. The expense under the U.S. plan was approximately
$24 million in 2004, $23 million in 2003 and $24 million in 2002. The expense under international and subsidiary savings
plans was $16 million, $13 million and $10 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Other Postemployment Benefits NCR offers various postemployment benefits to involuntarily terminated and certain
inactive employees after employment but before retirement. These benefits are paid in accordance with NCR’s established
postemployment benefit practices and policies. Postemployment benefits may include disability benefits, supplemental
unemployment benefits, severance, workers’ compensation benefits, and continuation of health care benefits and life insurance
coverage. NCR provides appropriate accruals for these postemployment benefits. These postemployment benefits are funded
on a pay-as-you-go basis. The expense under these plans was approximately $95 million, $79 million and $75 million for
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The accrued postemployment liability at December 31, 2004 and 2003 was $101 million
and $95 million, respectively.

NOTE 10 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
In the normal course of business, NCR enters into various financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments.
A description of these derivative instruments is as follows.

CASH FLOW HEDGES
NCR primarily uses foreign exchange forward contracts to reduce the Company’s exposure to changes in currency exchange
rates, primarily as it relates to inventory purchases by marketing units and inventory sales by manufacturing units. The
majority of the contracts were to exchange Euros, British Pounds and Japanese Yen, and generally mature within 15 months.
Foreign exchange contracts used as a part of NCR’s risk management strategy, which are designated at inception as highly
effective cash flow hedges, are measured for effectiveness both at inception and on an ongoing basis. For foreign exchange
contracts designated as highly effective cash flow hedges, the gains or losses are deferred in other comprehensive income
and recognized in the determination of income as adjustments of carrying amounts when the underlying hedged transaction
is realized, canceled or otherwise terminated. NCR reclassified an immaterial amount of net losses for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and $1 million for 2002. These losses are reclassified to other income and are the result of
discontinuance of cash flow hedges. The net impact related to the ineffectiveness of all cash flow hedges was not material
during 2004, 2003 and 2002. At December 31, 2004, before-tax deferred net losses recorded in other comprehensive
income related to cash flow hedges were $18 million, and are expected to be reclassified to earnings during the next 12 months.

FAIR VALUE HEDGES
NCR entered into an interest rate swap agreement (swap) in 2003 as part of its risk management strategy. The swap utilized
by the Company effectively modifies a portion of the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk by converting a portion of the
Company’s fixed-rate debt to a floating rate. This agreement involves the receipt of fixed rate amounts in exchange for floating
rate interest payments over the life of the agreement without an exchange of the underlying principal amount. This swap was
designated as a highly effective fair value hedge of $50 million of the $300 million senior unsecured notes due in 2009
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(see Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of the senior unsecured notes). As the terms of
the swap are identical to the terms of the senior unsecured notes, the swap qualifies for an assumption of no ineffectiveness
under the provisions of SFAS 133. Therefore, there was no gain or loss recognized in earnings due to ineffectiveness of the
swap during 2004.

OTHER HEDGES
When hedging certain foreign currency transactions of a long-term investment nature (net investments in foreign operations),
gains and losses are recorded in the currency translation adjustment component of stockholders’ equity. Gains and losses on
foreign exchange contracts that are not used to hedge currency transactions of a long-term investment nature, or that are not
designated as cash flow hedges, are recognized in other income or expense as exchange rates change. The impact of these
hedging activities was not material to the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The fair values of debt and foreign exchange contracts are based on market quotes of similar instruments and represent
estimates of possible value that may not be realized in the future. The table below presents the fair value, carrying value
and notional amount of foreign exchange contracts, interest rate swap, and debt at December 31, 2004 and 2003. The
notional amounts represent agreed-upon amounts on which calculations of dollars to be exchanged are based, and are an
indication of the extent of NCR’s involvement in such instruments. These notional amounts do not represent amounts
exchanged by the parties and, therefore, are not a measure of the instruments.
Contract
Notional
Amount

Carrying Amount
Asset
Liability

Fair Value
Asset
Liability

In millions

2004

Foreign exchange forward contracts
Interest rate swap
Debt

$

330
50
–

$

4
–
–

$

22
–
307

$

4
–
–

$

22
–
338

$

332
50
–

$

–
1
–

$

10
–
307

$

–
1
–

$

10
–
347

2003

Foreign exchange forward contracts
Interest rate swap
Debt

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK
NCR is potentially subject to concentrations of credit risk on accounts receivable and financial instruments such as hedging
instruments, short-term investments and cash and cash equivalents. Credit risk includes the risk of nonperformance by
counterparties. The maximum potential loss may exceed the amount recognized on the balance sheet. Exposure to credit risk
is managed through credit approvals, credit limits, selecting major international financial institutions (as counterparties to
hedging transactions) and monitoring procedures. NCR’s business often involves large transactions with customers, and if
one or more of those customers were to default in its obligations under applicable contractual arrangements, the Company
could be exposed to potentially significant losses. However, management believes that the reserves for potential losses are
adequate. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, NCR did not have any major concentration of credit risk related to financial instruments.

INVESTMENTS IN MARKETABLE SECURITIES
The fair value of the Company’s investments in marketable securities in aggregate was $52 million and $50 million at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The cost basis of the Company’s investments in marketable securities was
$41 million at December 31, 2004 and $43 million at December 31, 2003.

NOTE 11 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
In the normal course of business, NCR is subject to various regulations, proceedings, lawsuits, claims and other matters,
including actions under laws and regulations related to the environment and health and safety, among others. NCR believes
the amounts provided in its consolidated financial statements, as prescribed by GAAP, are adequate in light of the probable
and estimable liabilities. However, there can be no assurances that the actual amounts required to satisfy alleged liabilities
from various lawsuits, claims, legal proceedings and other matters, including the Fox River environmental matter discussed
below, and to comply with applicable laws and regulations, will not exceed the amounts reflected in NCR’s consolidated
financial statements or will not have a material adverse effect on its consolidated results of operations, financial condition or
cash flows. Any costs that may be incurred in excess of those amounts provided as of December 31, 2004 cannot currently
be reasonably determined.
NCR04
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ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS
NCR’s facilities and operations are subject to a wide range of environmental protection laws, and NCR has investigatory and
remedial activities underway at a number of facilities that it currently owns or operates, or formerly owned or operated, to
comply, or to determine compliance, with such laws. Also, NCR has been identified, either by a government agency or by a
private party seeking contribution to site clean-up costs, as a potentially responsible party (PRP) at a number of sites pursuant
to various state and federal laws, including the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (FWPCA) and comparable state statutes,
and the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLA), as amended, and
comparable state statutes.
NCR is one of eight entities that have been formally notified by governmental and other entities (such as local Native
American tribes) that they are PRPs for environmental claims under CERCLA and other statutes arising out of the presence
of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) in sediments in the lower Fox River and in the Bay of Green Bay, in Wisconsin. NCR
was identified as a PRP because of alleged PCB discharges from two carbonless copy paper manufacturing facilities it previously
owned, which are located along the Fox River. Some parties contend that NCR is also responsible for PCB discharges from
paper mills owned by other companies because carbonless paper manufactured by NCR was purchased by those mills as a
raw material for their paper making processes. NCR sold the facilities in 1978 to Appleton Papers Inc. (API), which has also
been identified as a PRP. The other Fox River PRPs include P.H. Glatfelter Company, Georgia-Pacific Corp. (formerly Fort
James), WTM I Co. (formerly Wisconsin Tissue Mills, now owned by Chesapeake Corporation), Riverside Paper Corporation,
Sonoco U.S. Mills, Inc. (owned by Sonoco Products Company), and Menasha Corporation.
The governmental and other entities making such claims against NCR and the other PRPs have been coordinating their
actions, including the assertion of claims against the PRPs. Additionally, certain claimants have notified NCR and the other
PRPs of their intent to commence a natural resource damage (NRD) lawsuit, but have not as yet instituted litigation; and one
of the claimants, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), formally proposed the Fox River site for inclusion on
the CERCLA National Priorities List, but no action has yet been taken on this proposal.
NCR’s reserve for the Fox River matter has decreased from the end of the third quarter of 2004 to reflect the incurrence
of ongoing Fox River-related expenses (which are charged against and reduce the reserve). The reserve was approximately
$67 million as of December 31, 2004 (after taking into consideration amounts expected to be recovered under an
indemnity agreement discussed below). The Company regularly re-evaluates the assumptions used in determining the
appropriate reserve for the Fox River matter as additional information becomes available and, when warranted, makes
appropriate adjustments.
In July 2003, USEPA and Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WDNR) issued their final clean-up plan (known as
a Record of Decision, or ROD) for the largest portion of the Fox River. The ROD addresses the lower part of the Fox River
and portions of Green Bay, where USEPA and WDNR (the Governments) estimate the bulk of the sediments that need to be
remediated are located. In the two portions of the lower part of the Fox River covered by the ROD – Operable Units (OUs)
3 and 4 – the Governments selected large-scale dredging as the remedial approach. The Governments estimate that
approximately 6.5 million cubic yards of sediment will be removed from these portions at an estimated cost of approximately
$284 million. The Governments also identify “capping” the river bed with appropriate materials as a “contingent remedy”
to be evaluated during the remedial design process. For Green Bay, or OU-5, the Governments selected monitored natural
attenuation as the remedial approach at an estimated cost of approximately $40 million. The Governments also indicate that
some limited dredging near the mouth of the river might be required, but this will be determined during the design stage of
the project. Earlier, in January 2003, the Governments issued their ROD for the upper portions of the Fox River – OUs 1
and 2. Combining the cost estimates from both RODs, it appears the Governments expect the selected remedies for all five
OUs to cost approximately $400 million exclusive of contingencies.
NCR believes the Governments’ cost estimates omit some categories of cost, use unit costs that are lower than what might
reasonably be expected, and underestimate the cost of some portions of the selected remedy. As a result, the total clean-up
costs could be substantially higher, and the cost estimates are subject to many uncertainties. The Governments and certain
PRPs have initiated the engineering design of the remedy, a process that could take three to four years. Actual dredging in
the lower portions will not begin until the design work is complete. The Governments have indicated they expect the design
and dredging work to take at least ten years.
By letter dated September 30, 2003, the Governments notified NCR and seven other PRPs of their potential liability for
remediation of the lower portions of the Fox River and requested that one or more of the PRPs enter into an agreement with
the Governments to perform the design work for OUs 2-5. In response, NCR and Georgia-Pacific (G-P) in March 2004
entered into an Administrative Order on Consent (AOC) with the Governments to perform the remedial design work for OUs 2-5.
NCR, in conjunction with the other PRPs, has developed a substantial body of evidence that may demonstrate that the
eventual implementation of alternatives involving river-wide restoration/remediation, particularly massive dredging, would
be inappropriate and unnecessary. There is ongoing debate within the scientific, regulatory, legal, public policy and legislative
communities over how to properly manage large areas of contaminated sediments, and NCR believes there is a high degree
of uncertainty about the appropriate scope of alternatives that may ultimately be required by the Governments.
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Notwithstanding the issuance of the RODs, the extent of NCR’s potential liability is subject to many uncertainties at this
time. NCR’s eventual liability – which is expected to be paid out over a period of at least ten years, and likely as long as
twenty to forty or more years – will depend on a number of factors. In general, the most significant factors include: (1) the
total clean-up costs for the site; (2) the total natural resource damages for the site; (3) the share NCR and API will jointly
bear of the total clean-up costs and natural resource damages as former and current owners of paper manufacturing facilities
located along the Fox River; (4) the share NCR will bear of the joint NCR/API payments for clean-up costs and natural
resource damages; and (5) NCR’s transaction costs to defend itself in this matter. In setting the reserve, NCR attempts to
estimate a range of reasonably possible outcomes for each of these factors, although each range is itself highly uncertain.
NCR uses its best estimate within the range if that is possible. Where there is a range of equally probable outcomes, and
there is no amount within that range that appears to be a better estimate than any other amount, NCR uses the low end of
the range. These factors are discussed below:
• For the first factor described above, total clean-up costs for the site, NCR has determined that there is a range of
equally probable outcomes, and that no estimate within that range is better than the other estimates. Accordingly,
NCR uses the low end of that range, which is now $480 million. This amount is derived by taking the Governments’
estimate for total clean-up costs – $400 million – and increasing it by 20% to reflect NCR’s analysis that indicates
the Governments’ own cost estimates are understated. For example, NCR’s review indicates that the Governments’
$400 million cost number omits some categories of cost, uses unit costs that are lower than what might reasonably be
expected, and underestimates the cost of some elements of the selected remedy. However, there can be no assurances
that this amount will not be significantly higher. For example, one consultant has expressed an opinion that total
clean-up costs for the site could be approximately $1.1 billion.
• Second, for total natural resource damages, NCR has determined that there is a range of equally probable outcomes,
and that no estimate within that range is better than the other estimates. Accordingly, NCR uses the low end of that
range, which is the lowest estimate in the Governments’ 2000 report on natural resource damages. This amount is
$176 million.
• Third, for the NCR/API share of clean-up costs and natural resource damages, NCR examined figures developed by
several independent, nationally-recognized engineering and paper-industry experts, along with those set forth in draft
government reports. Again, the Company determined that there is a range of equally probable outcomes, and that no
estimate within that range is better than the other estimates. Accordingly, NCR uses the low end of that range, which
is based primarily on an estimate of the joint NCR/API percentage of direct discharges of PCBs to the river.
• Fourth, for the NCR share of the joint NCR/API payments, the Company estimates that it would pay approximately
half of the total costs jointly attributable to NCR/API. This is based on a sharing agreement between NCR and API,
the terms of which are confidential. This factor assumes that API is able to pay its share of the NCR/API joint share.
• Finally, for NCR’s transaction costs to defend this matter, the Company has estimated the costs that are likely
to be incurred over the ten years ending in 2013, the time period the Governments project it will take to design and
implement the remedy for the river. This estimate is based on an analysis of NCR’s costs since this matter first arose
in 1995 and estimates of what the Company’s defense and transaction costs will be in the future. NCR expects that
the bulk of these transaction costs will be incurred over the first four to five years of this time period, when the remedy
will be designed and the initial dredging will begin. Once dredging is underway, NCR believes that its transaction
costs may decrease significantly on an annual basis.
While it remains difficult to predict, NCR does not expect there to be any significant near-term changes to any of the
above-described estimates that are likely to have a material effect on the amount of our accrual. However, there are other
estimates for each of these factors which are significantly higher than the estimates described above. NCR believes there
is such uncertainty surrounding these estimates that it cannot quantify the high end of the range of such estimates.
NCR has discussed above the Company’s overall, long-term exposure to the Fox River liability. However, NCR’s short-term
liability for this matter is limited. In December 2001, NCR and API entered into an interim settlement with the Governments
that limits NCR/API’s joint cash payouts to $10 million per year over a four-year period beginning at the time of such interim
settlement. Any portion of an annual $10 million installment not paid out in a given year will be rolled over and made available
for payment during subsequent years up until December 10, 2005. In exchange for these payments, the Governments have
agreed not to take any enforcement actions against NCR and API during the term of the settlement. These payments are
being shared by NCR and API under the terms of the confidential settlement agreement discussed above and will be credited
against NCR’s long-term exposure for this matter. NCR’s share of these payments was taken into account in determining its
reserve. Six and a half million of the amounts paid under the interim settlement will be used to fund part of the design work
NCR and G-P are performing under the AOC discussed above.
AT&T and Lucent Technologies, Inc. (Lucent) are jointly responsible for indemnifying NCR for a portion of amounts for the
Fox River incurred by NCR over a certain threshold. NCR’s estimate of what AT&T and Lucent will pay under the indemnity
is recorded as a long-term receivable of $15 million and is deducted in determining the net amount discussed above.
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It is difficult to estimate the future financial impact of environmental laws, including potential liabilities. NCR records
environmental provisions when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount or range of the liability is
reasonably estimable. Provisions for estimated losses from environmental restoration and remediation are, depending on the
site, based primarily on internal and third-party environmental studies (except for the Fox River site where the estimated
clean-up costs and natural resource damages are taken from the Governments’ decisions, reports and supporting documents),
estimates as to the number and participation level of any other PRPs, the extent of the contamination, and the nature of
required remedial and restoration actions. Accruals are adjusted as further information develops or circumstances change.
Management expects that the amounts accrued from time to time will be paid out over the period of investigation, negotiation,
remediation and restoration for the applicable sites. The amounts provided for environmental matters in NCR’s consolidated
financial statements are the estimated gross undiscounted amounts of such liabilities (except for the Fox River site where the
Governments’ clean-up decisions and supporting documents set forth estimates for certain long-term costs at net present
worth), without deductions for insurance or third-party indemnity claims. Except for the sharing agreement with API
described above with respect to the Fox River site, in those cases where insurance carriers or third-party indemnitors have
agreed to pay any amounts and management believes that collectibility of such amounts is probable, the amounts would be
reflected as receivables in the consolidated financial statements. For the Fox River site, an asset relating to the AT&T and
Lucent indemnity has been recognized, as payment is deemed probable.

GUARANTEES AND PRODUCT WARRANTIES
Guarantees associated with NCR’s business activities are reviewed for appropriateness and impact to the Company’s financial
statements. Periodically, NCR’s customers enter into various leasing arrangements coordinated by NCR with a leasing partner.
In some instances, NCR guarantees the leasing partner a minimum value at the end of the lease term on the leased equipment
or guarantees lease payments between the customer and the leasing partner. As of December 31, 2004, the maximum future
payment obligation of this guaranteed value was $9 million and an associated liability of $7 million was recorded.
NCR has equity investments in certain affiliates in which the Company has issued debt guarantees originally five years in
length for these affiliates to third-party lending institutions. These guarantees expire at various dates in 2007. If default
occurs, NCR’s maximum amount of future payment obligation on these guarantees would be $2 million at December 31, 2004.
The Company has not recorded a liability in connection with these guarantees.
NCR provides its customers a standard manufacturer’s warranty and records, at the time of the sale, a corresponding
estimated liability for potential warranty costs. Estimated future obligations due to warranty claims are based upon historic
factors such as labor rates, average repair time, travel time, number of service calls per machine, and cost of replacement
parts. Each business unit consummating a sale recognizes the total customer revenue and records the associated warranty
liability using pre-established warranty percentages for that product class. Any additional warranty coverage requested by
NCR’s customers is accounted for as a maintenance contract and revenue is recognized over the contract life. From time to
time, product design or quality corrections are accomplished through modification programs. When identified, associated
costs of labor and parts for such programs are estimated and accrued as part of the warranty reserve.
The following table identifies the activity relating to the warranty reserve for the respective periods:
2003

2004
In millions

Beginning balance at January 1
Accruals for warranties issued
Settlements (in cash or in kind)

$

18
47
(44)

$

16
45
(43)

Ending balance at December 31

$

21

$

18

NCR also offers extended warranties to its customers as maintenance contracts. NCR accounts for these contracts by deferring
the related maintenance revenue over the extended warranty period. Amounts associated with these maintenance contracts
are not included in the table above.
In addition, NCR provides its customers with certain indemnification rights. In general, NCR agrees to indemnify the
customer if a third party asserts patent or other infringement on the part of the customer for its use of the Company’s
products. From time to time, NCR also enters into agreements in connection with its acquisition and divestiture activities
that include indemnification obligations by the Company. The fair value of these indemnification obligations is not readily
determinable due to the conditional nature of the Company’s potential obligations and the specific facts and circumstances
involved with each particular agreement. The Company has not recorded a liability in connection with these indemnifications.
Historically, payments made by the Company under these types of agreements have not had a material effect on the
Company’s consolidated financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
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PURCHASE COMMITMENTS
The Company has purchase commitments for materials, supplies, services, and property, plant and equipment as part of the
normal course of business. This includes a long-term service agreement with Accenture under which many of NCR’s key
transaction processing activities and functions will be performed by Accenture. The transition process for these activities
was primarily conducted in 2004.

LEASES
NCR conducts certain of its sales and manufacturing operations using leased facilities, the initial lease terms of which vary
in length. Many of the leases contain renewal options and escalation clauses. Future minimum lease payments, in millions,
under non-cancelable leases as of December 31, 2004, for the following fiscal years were:
2005

Minimum lease obligations

$

55

2006

$

2007

47

$

37

2008

$

28

2009

$

22

Thereafter

$

76

In addition to the future minimum lease payments, NCR entered into an assigned lease guarantee that expires in 2005.
A maximum future payment obligation at December 31, 2004 of $500,000 was related to this guarantee, and no associated
liability was recorded. Total rental expense for operating leases was $57 million, $71 million and $71 million for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

NOTE 12 SEGMENT INFORMATION AND CONCENTRATIONS
OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
NCR is managed through the following businesses which are also the Company’s operating segments: (1) Data Warehousing,
(2) Financial Self Service, (3) Retail Store Automation, (4) Payment and Imaging, (5) Systemedia, (6) Customer Services and
(7) “Other,” which primarily relates to third-party hardware sales and related installation services in our high availability
and networking services businesses and to a business in Japan that is not aligned to NCR’s other segments.
NCR’s Data Warehousing solutions serve several industries including retail, financial, telecommunications, transportation
and insurance, as well as consumer goods manufacturing and government entities. NCR’s data warehousing solutions combine
hardware, Teradata software (i.e., database, data mining, and application software), professional consulting services, and
customer support services. Our Data Warehousing solutions also include third-party products and services from leading
technology and service partners. The Company’s Financial Self Service solutions offer a complete line of ATM hardware and
software, and related services, enabling businesses to reduce costs, generate new revenue streams and build customer loyalty.
Financial Self Service solutions primarily serve the financial services industry, with particular focus on retail banking.
NCR’s Retail Store Automation solutions are designed to improve selling productivity and checkout processes, and increase
service levels. Primarily serving the retail industry, Retail Store Automation solutions deliver traditional point-of-sale and
innovative self-checkout solutions, among other things. Systemedia develops, produces and markets a complete line of business
consumables and products. The Company’s Payment and Imaging solutions are designed to digitally capture, process and
retain item-based transactions, thereby helping businesses reduce operating costs and increase efficiency. Payment and
Imaging solutions mainly serve the financial services industry. Services are an essential component of each of our complete
solution offerings, and the Customer Services Division provides support services for NCR solution customers, as well as
third-party solution customers.
In recognition of the volatility of the effects of pension on operating income and to maintain operating focus on and
analysis of business performance, pension expense or income is excluded from segment operating income or loss when
evaluating business unit performance and is separately delineated to reconcile back to total Company reported operating
income. Also, management does not consider in its decision-making activities certain charges that are not related to the
operational performance of the segments. These amounts are separately identified in the operating income (loss) by segment
table that follows.
Installation-related services constitute implementation and installation services within each operating segment and are an
integral part of NCR’s Customer Services segment. Operating management teams in Data Warehousing, Financial Self
Service, Retail Store Automation, Payment and Imaging, and “Other,” are accountable for the installation-related services
revenue and profitability of this activity. Customer Services has shared responsibilities for installation-related services
revenue and profitability of these services, except Data Warehousing. As such, this revenue and operating income is also
included in the results of the Customer Services segment. To reconcile to total Company reported revenue and operating
income, the installation-related services included in both the operating segments and the Customer Services segment are
adjusted as reflected in the following tables.
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The following table presents revenue by operating segment for the years ended December 31:
2003

2004

2002

In millions

Revenue
Data Warehousing

Products
Professional and installation-related services

$

728
341

$

624
325

$

668
334

Total Data Warehousing Solution
Data Warehousing support services

1,069
292

949
264

1,002
224

Total Data Warehousing revenue

1,361

1,213

1,226

Products
Professional and installation-related services

1,102
268

913
236

912
183

Total Financial Self Service revenue

1,370

1,149

1,095

Products
Professional and installation-related services

627
237

558
239

504
210

Total Retail Store Automation revenue

864

797

714

512

494

518

Products
Professional and installation-related services

109
40

116
36

115
37

Total Payment and Imaging revenue

149

152

152

–
326

–
320

2
218

576
462
108
361

546
467
107
409

516
462
107
486

1,833

1,849

1,791

Products
Professional and installation-related services

86
110

130
112

166
121

Total Other revenue

196

242

287

(301)

(298)

(198)

Financial Self Service

Retail Store Automation

Systemedia
Payment and Imaging

Customer Services

Products
Professional and installation-related services
Customer Service Maintenance:
Financial Self Service
Retail Store Automation
Payment and Imaging
Other
Total Customer Services revenue
Other

Elimination of installation-related services revenue
included in both the Customer Services segment
and the other segments

$ 5,984

Total Revenue

54 >

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

>

NCR04

$

5,598

$

5,585

The following table presents operating income (loss), by operating segment for the years ended December 31:
2003

2004

2002

In millions

Operating Income (Loss)
Data Warehousing
Financial Self Service
Retail Store Automation
Systemedia
Payment and Imaging
Customer Services
Other
Elimination of installation-related services operating
income included in both the Customer Services segment
and the other segments

$

Subtotal – Segment operating income
% of Revenue

$

$

$

112
115
(57)
6
19
37
(46)

(89)

(50)

368

235

136

4.2%

233

2.4%

(105)
–

(135)
–

Consolidated income from operations

145
165
–
14
21
27
(48)

(90)
6.1%

Pension (expense) income
Other adjustments

1

223
222
26
8
17
(3)
(35)

$

130

74
(21)1
$

189

Includes real estate consolidation and restructuring charges of $16 million and asset impairment charges of $5 million.

The assets attributable to NCR’s operating segments consist primarily of accounts receivable, inventories, manufacturing
assets, capitalized software and goodwill dedicated to a specific solution. Assets not attributable to operating segments consist
primarily of fixed assets not dedicated to a specific segment, such as deferred tax assets, prepaid pension costs, cash, cash
equivalents and short-term investments. Segment assets at December 31 were:
2003

2004

2002

In millions

Segment Assets
Data Warehousing
Financial Self Service
Retail Store Automation
Systemedia
Payment and Imaging
Customer Services
Other

$

609
544
363
187
56
453
49

$

569
511
287
192
64
435
78

$

531
431
299
184
50
464
62

Total segment assets

2,261

2,136

2,021

Assets not allocated to the segments:
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments
Prepaid pension cost
Deferred income taxes
Other assets not attributable to segments

750
1,446
468
629

689
1,386
361
625

526
794
704
627

$ 5,554

Consolidated total assets
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Revenues are attributed to the geographic area/country to which the product is delivered or in which the service is provided.
The following table presents revenue by geographic area for NCR for the years ended December 31:
2004

2003

%

%

2002

%

In millions

Revenue by geographic area
United States
Americas (excluding United States)
Europe/Middle East/Africa
Japan
Asia/Pacific (excluding Japan)

$ 2,570
386
1,933
457
638

43%
6%
32%
8%
11%

$

2,405
343
1,793
460
597

43%
6%
32%
8%
11%

$ 2,396
383
1,671
483
652

43%
7%
30%
9%
11%

Consolidated revenue

$ 5,984

100%

$

5,598

100%

$ 5,585

100%

The following table presents certain long-lived assets, primarily composed of property, plant and equipment, prepaid pension,
capitalized software and goodwill by country at December 31:
2003

2004

2002

In millions

Long-lived assets
United States
United Kingdom
Japan
All other countries

$ 1,023
808
145
529

$

1,060
740
180
482

$

610
643
154
439

Consolidated long-lived assets

$ 2,505

$

2,462

$

1,846

CONCENTRATIONS
No single customer accounts for more than 10% of NCR’s consolidated revenue. As of December 31, 2004, NCR is not
aware of any significant concentration of business transacted with a particular customer that could, if suddenly eliminated,
have a material adverse effect on NCR’s operations. NCR also does not have a concentration of available sources of labor,
services, licenses or other rights that could, if suddenly eliminated, have a material adverse effect on its operations.
A number of NCR’s products, systems and solutions rely primarily on specific suppliers for microprocessors and other
component products, manufactured assemblies, operating systems, commercial databases and other central components.
There can be no assurances that any sudden impact to the availability or cost of these technologies would not have a material
adverse effect on NCR’s operations.

NOTE 13 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
At December 31, 2004, NCR had a reserve in anticipation of non-payment of a non-trade receivable with one of our
Japanese-affiliated companies due to a long history of non-payment and unprofitable operations. In February 2005, the equity
position of this company improved as the result of its improving profitability, an additional investment of capital from one of
the other equity holders and the acquisition of an external loan (not guaranteed by NCR). Due to these events, this company
was able to pay NCR $4 million in February 2005. As this event provided additional evidence, with respect to conditions
that existed at the date of the balance sheet as to the estimates of realization of receivables, NCR adjusted the financial
statements accordingly.
At December 31, 2004, the Company had a $1 million reserve for an environmental liability related to a former manufacturing
facility owned and operated from 1965 to 1994. The property was sold in 1994. In February 2005, additional developments
caused us to increase our reserve by $2 million. The adjustment was made to NCR’s 2004 financial statements to reflect
this change.

56 >

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

>

NCR04

NOTE 14 QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)
First

1

Second

Third

Fourth

$ 1,290
$
322
$
(8)
$
(5)

$ 1,452
$
393
$
53
$
122

$ 1,454
$
395
$
59
$
44

$ 1,788
$
506
$
129
$
129

$ (0.03)
$ (0.03)

$
$

0.65
0.63

$
$

0.23
0.23

$
$

0.69
0.68

$
$
$
$

1,234
307
(32)
(27)

$
$
$
$

1,366
359
16
(13)

$
$
$
$

1,355
374
33
18

$
$
$
$

1,643
494
113
80

$
$

(0.14)
(0.14)

$
$

(0.07)
(0.07)

$
$

0.10
0.10

$
$

0.42
0.42

In millions, except per share amounts

2004

Total revenues
Gross margin
Operating (loss) income
Net (loss) income
Net (loss) income per share:2
Basic
Diluted
2003

Total revenues
Gross margin
Operating (loss) income
Net (loss) income
Net (loss) income per share:2
Basic
Diluted
1

Our tax rate for the fourth quarter of 2004 was 13%, which was lower than the 25% effective tax rate expected. The lower tax rate was due to
an increased percentage of operating profits attributable to foreign operations which have lower effective tax rates due to prior year losses.

2

Per share amounts reflect a two-for-one stock split effective on January 21, 2005.

COMMON STOCK INFORMATION
NCR common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and trades under the symbol “NCR.” There were
approximately 387,000 holders of NCR common stock as of February 14, 2005. The following table presents the high
and low per share prices for NCR common stock for each quarter of 2004 and 2003. These stock prices are adjusted for
a two-for-one stock split which became effective on January 21, 2005.
2003

2004
High

1st Quarter
2nd Quarter
3rd Quarter
4th Quarter

$
$
$
$

23.06
25.00
26.29
35.50

$
$
$
$

High

Low

19.36
22.00
21.01
24.19

$
$
$
$

13.15
13.87
16.86
19.74

Low

$
$
$
$

8.46
9.11
12.68
15.93

Although NCR does not anticipate the payment of cash dividends on NCR common stock in the foreseeable future, the
declaration of dividends would be subject to the discretion of the Board of Directors of NCR. Payment of dividends on NCR
common stock would also be subject to such limitations as may be imposed by NCR’s credit facilities from time to time.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
1

For the year ended December 31

2

3

2003

2004

4

2002

5

2001

2000

In millions, except per share and employee and contractor amounts

Revenue
Income from operations
Other (income) expense, net
Income tax (benefit) expense
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per common share
Basic
Diluted

$ 5,984
$
233
$
(18)
$
(39)
$
290

$
$
$
$
$

5,598
130
58
14
58

$
$
$
$
$

5,585
189
58
3
(220)

$
$
$
$
$

5,917
186
62
(97)
217

$
$
$
$
$

5,959
205
(70)
97
178

$
$

1.55
1.51

$
$

0.31
0.30

$
$

(1.13)
(1.10)

$
$

1.12
1.09

$
$

0.94
0.91

$ 5,554
$
309
$ 2,086

$
$
$

5,197
310
1,875
–
29,000

$
$
$

4,672
311
1,325
–
30,100

$
$
$

4,855
148
2,027
–
31,400

$
$
$

5,106
107
1,758
–
32,900

At December 31

Total assets
Debt
Stockholders’ equity
Cash dividends
Number of employees and contractors

–
28,500

1 Income from operations for 2004 includes $5 million of cost associated with the exiting of real estate facilities. Other income for
2004 includes $17 million of real estate gains, $3 million for an acquisition break-up fee, $4 million for recovery of a non-trade
receivable that was previously fully reserved, and a $9 million release of a reserve previously established for the Company’s
anticipated exit of certain countries in the Middle East and Africa Region. The Company also realized an $85 million income
tax benefit resulting from the favorable settlement of audit issues relating to the period when NCR was a subsidiary of AT&T.
2 Other expense for 2003 includes $37 million for a charge associated with the Fox River environmental matter and $6 million
reversal of a charge related to the Lucent indemnification claim recorded in 2002.
3 Income from operations for 2002 includes real estate consolidation and restructuring charges of $16 million and asset
impairment charges of $5 million. Net income includes a $348 million net-of-tax cumulative effect of accounting change charge
for goodwill impairment relating to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, and the after-tax
impacts of real estate consolidation impairment charges of $8 million, marketable securities write-down to fair value in Japan
of $14 million, a charge of $9 million for a Lucent indemnification claim, and an income tax benefit of $35 million relating to
tax refunds, tax planning and use of foreign tax credits.
4 Income from operations for 2001 includes a $39 million provision for loans and receivables related to Credit Card Center
(CCC), $9 million of integration costs related to acquisitions and $67 million of goodwill amortization. Net income for 2001
includes the after-tax impacts of a $39 million provision for loans and receivables with CCC, $9 million of integration costs
related to acquisitions, $40 million for a charge associated with the Fox River environmental matter, a $1 million provision
for interest receivables related to CCC, a $138 million tax benefit from the resolution of international income tax issues, and
a $4 million cumulative effect of adopting Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133.
5 Income from operations for 2000 includes $38 million for restructuring and other related charges, $25 million for in-process
R&D charges related to acquisitions, $2 million for integration costs related to acquisitions and $33 million of goodwill
amortization.

Teradata is either a registered trademark or trademark of NCR International, Inc. in the United States and/or other countries.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
ANNUAL STOCKHOLDER MEETING

NCR’S EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Stockholders are invited to attend NCR’s Annual Meeting
of Stockholders at 9:30 a.m. on April 27, 2005, to be
held at:

Mark V. Hurd
President and Chief Executive Officer

NCR Auditorium, World Headquarters Building
1700 S. Patterson Blvd.
Dayton, OH 45479

“IN 2004, ALONG WITH DRIVING
MEANINGFUL REVENUE GROWTH
FOR THE FIRST TIME IN SEVERAL
YEARS, NCR MADE GOOD PROGRESS
IN STREAMLINING THE COMPANY’S
COST STRUCTURE AND INVESTING
FOR FUTURE EARNINGS EXPANSION.”

STOCKHOLDER ACCOUNT INQUIRIES
Inquiries concerning stockholder accounts or NCR’s
Direct Stock Purchase/Sell Program should be directed to:
NCR Corporation
c/o Mellon Investor Services LLC
85 Challenger Road
Overpeck Centre
Ridgefield Park, NJ 07660
Ph. 800-NCR-2303 (800-627-2303)
Ph. 201-329-8660 (Outside the U.S.)

MARK V. HURD
President and Chief Executive Officer

Account information can also be obtained via
e-mail at shrrelations@melloninvestor.com,
or by visiting NCR’s stock transfer agent’s website
at www.melloninvestor.com/isd.
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IMPROVING PROFITABILITY IN EACH CORE BUSINESS SEGMENT
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GENERATING CASH FLOW FOR FUTURE INVESTMENT
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BUILDING MOMENTUM

MIZRAHI DESIGN ASSOCIATES, INC. (WWW.MIZRAHIDESIGN.COM)
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PRINTING

The company’s annual report filed with the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC) on Form 10-K for
current and prior years can be accessed via the “Investor”
page of NCR’s website at www.ncr.com.

Eric A. Berg
Senior Vice President and
Chief Administrative Officer
Peter J. Bocian
Senior Vice President of Finance and
Chief Financial Officer
Gerald A. Gagliardi
Senior Vice President,
Worldwide Customer Services Division
Jonathan S. Hoak
Senior Vice President,
General Counsel and Secretary
Michael Koehler
Senior Vice President, Teradata Division
Mark D. Quinlan
Vice President, Systemedia Division
Lee Schram
Senior Vice President, Retail Solutions Division
Keith A. Taylor
Senior Vice President,
Financial Solutions Division
Christine W. Wallace
Senior Vice President, Human Resources

COMPANY INFORMATION

NCR’S BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Information requests for NCR’s SEC filings, annual
report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports and other financial
information can be obtained without charge by writing
or calling:

Lars Nyberg
Chairman of the Board and former CEO,
NCR Corporation

NCR Investor Relations
1700 S. Patterson Blvd.
Dayton, OH 45479
Ph. 937-445-5905
investor.relations@ncr.com
http://investor.ncr.com
Stockholders can help NCR reduce printing and mailing
costs by electing to view NCR’s annual reports and proxy
statements online rather than receiving paper copies. If
you would like to participate, please indicate your consent
on your proxy card or log on to Mellon Investor Services
at www.melloninvestor.com/isd.

CEO AND CFO CERTIFICATIONS
In 2004, the company’s CEO provided the New York
Stock Exchange (NYSE) with the annual CEO certification
regarding NCR’s compliance with the NYSE’s corporate
governance listing standards. In addition, the company’s
CEO and CFO filed with the SEC all required
certifications regarding the quality of NCR’s public
disclosures in its fiscal 2004 periodic reports.

Edward P. Boykin
Former President and COO,
Computer Sciences Corporation
Mark P. Frissora
Chairman and CEO, Tenneco Automotive Inc.
Mark V. Hurd
President and CEO, NCR Corporation
Linda Fayne Levinson
Former Partner, GRP Partners
Victor L. Lund
Former Chairman, Mariner Health Care, Inc.
C.K. Prahalad
Professor of Business Administration,
The University of Michigan
James M. Ringler
Retired Vice Chairman, Illinois Tool Works Inc.
William S. Stavropoulos
Chairman and former CEO, The Dow Chemical Co.
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